
 
 

v1 2015 

AGENDA  
 

Meeting Environment Committee 

Date Thursday 14 June 2018 

Time 10.00 am 

Place Chamber, Chamber, City Hall, The 
Queen's Walk, London, SE1 2AA 

Copies of the reports and any attachments may be found at  
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/environment  
 
Most meetings of the London Assembly and its Committees are webcast live at 
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts where you can also view past 
meetings. 
 
Members of the Committee 
Caroline Russell AM (Chair) 
Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair) 
Tony Arbour AM 
Jennette Arnold OBE AM 

Shaun Bailey AM 
David Kurten AM 
Dr Onkar Sahota AM 

 

A meeting of the Committee has been called by the Chair of the Committee to deal with the business 

listed below.  

Ed Williams, Executive Director of Secretariat 
Wednesday 6 June 2018 

 
Further Information 
If you have questions, would like further information about the meeting or require special facilities 
please contact: Clare Bryant, Committee Officer; telephone: 020 7983 4616;  
Email: clare.bryant@london.gov.uk; minicom: 020 7983 4458 
 
For media enquiries please contact Lisa Lam, Telephone 020 7983 4067; 
Email: lisa.lam@london.gov.uk.  If you have any questions about individual items please contact the 
author whose details are at the end of the report.  
 
This meeting will be open to the public, except for where exempt information is being discussed as 
noted on the agenda.  A guide for the press and public on attending and reporting meetings of local 
government bodies, including the use of film, photography, social media and other means is available 
at www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf.  
 
There is access for disabled people, and induction loops are available.  There is limited underground 
parking for orange and blue badge holders, which will be allocated on a first-come first-served basis.  
Please contact Facilities Management on 020 7983 4750 in advance if you require a parking space or 
further information. 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/environment
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts
http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf


 

 
Certificate Number: FS 80233 

If you, or someone you know, needs a copy of the agenda, minutes or reports 
in large print or Braille, audio, or in another language, then please call us on 
020 7983 4100 or email assembly.translations@london.gov.uk.   
 

 
 

mailto:assembly.translations@london.gov.uk


 

3 
 

Agenda 
Environment Committee 
Thursday 14 June 2018 
 
 

1 Apologies for Absence and Chair's Announcements  
 
 To receive any apologies for absence and any announcements from the Chair.  

 
 

2 Declarations of Interests (Pages 1 - 4) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact:  Clare Bryant, clare.bryant@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 4616 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 

(a) Note the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, as disclosable pecuniary interests;  

 

(b) Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests 

in specific items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the 

Member(s) regarding withdrawal following such declaration(s); and 

 

(c) Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be 

relevant (including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received 

which are not at the time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register 

of gifts and hospitality, and noting also the advice from the GLA’s 

Monitoring Officer set out at Agenda Item 2) and to note any necessary 

action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s). 
 
 

3 Minutes (Pages 5 - 46) 

 
 The Committee is recommended to confirm the minutes of the meeting of the 

Committee held on 23 May 2018 to be signed by the Chair as a correct record. 
 

 The appendix to the minutes set out on pages 11 to 46 is attached for Members and officers 

only but is available from the following area of the Greater London Authority’s website: 

www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/environment  
 
 
 
 
 
 

mailto:clare.bryant@london.gov.uk
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/environment


 

4 
 

4 Summary List of Actions (Pages 47 - 50) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact:  Clare Bryant, clare.bryant@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 4616 

 

The Committee is recommended to note the completed and outstanding actions 

arising from its previous meetings. 
 
 

5 Action Taken under Delegated Authority (Pages 51 - 62) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact:  Clare Bryant, clare.bryant@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 4616 

 

The Committee is recommended to note the recent action taken by the Chair of the 

Committee under delegated authority, in consultation with the party Group Lead 

Members, namely to agree the Committee’s report Electric Vehicles in London. 
 
 

6 Draft Food Strategy (Pages 63 - 64) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Ian Williamson, scrutiny@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 6541 

 

The Committee is recommended to:  

 

(a) Note the report as background to putting questions to invited guests on the 

Mayor’s draft Food Strategy, and note the subsequent discussion.  

(b) Delegate authority to the Chair, in consultation with party Group Lead 

Members, to agree any output arising from the discussion.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

mailto:clare.bryant@london.gov.uk
mailto:clare.bryant@london.gov.uk
mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


 

5 
 

7 Environment Committee Work Programme (Pages 65 - 76) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Ian Williamson, scrutiny@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 6541 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 
(a) Delegate authority to the Chair, in consultation with party Group Lead 

Members, to agree the scope and terms of reference for its work on the 
environmental impact of food growing in London’s Green Belt. 

  

(b) Note its previously-agreed work programme for the 2018/19 Assembly year, 

as set out in paragraphs 4.2 to 4.13. 
 

(c) Delegate authority to the Chair, in consultation with party Group Lead 

Members, to write to the Natural Environment Research Council in support of 

their bid to the Industrial Strategy Challenge Fund, as set out in paragraph 

4.14. 

  
 

8 Date of Next Meeting  
 
 The next meeting of the Committee is scheduled for Thursday, 12 July 2018 at 2.00pm in the 

Chamber, City Hall. 
 
 

9 Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent  
 
 
 

mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk  v2/2018 

 

Subject: Declarations of Interests 
 

Report to: Environment Committee   
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 14 June 2018 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 
 
 
1. Summary  

 
1.1 This report sets out details of offices held by Assembly Members for noting as disclosable pecuniary 

interests and requires additional relevant declarations relating to disclosable pecuniary interests, and 

gifts and hospitality to be made. 

 
 
2. Recommendations  
 

2.1 That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table below, be noted 

as disclosable pecuniary interests1; 

2.2 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests in specific 

items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the Member(s) regarding 

withdrawal following such declaration(s) be noted; and 

2.3 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be relevant 

(including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received which are not at the 

time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register of gifts and hospitality, and 

noting also the advice from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer set out at below) and any 

necessary action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s) be noted. 

 
3. Issues for Consideration  
 
3.1 Relevant offices held by Assembly Members are listed in the table overleaf: 

  

                                                 
1 The Monitoring Officer advises that: Paragraph 10 of the Code of Conduct will only preclude a Member from 
participating in any matter to be considered or being considered at, for example, a meeting of the Assembly, 
where the Member has a direct Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in that particular matter. The effect of this is 
that the ‘matter to be considered, or being considered’ must be about the Member’s interest. So, by way of 
example, if an Assembly Member is also a councillor of London Borough X, that Assembly Member will be 
precluded from participating in an Assembly meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about the 
Member’s role / employment as a councillor of London Borough X; the Member will not be precluded from 
participating in a meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about an activity or decision of London 
Borough X. 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



        

Member Interest 

Tony Arbour AM  

Jennette Arnold OBE AM European Committee of the Regions  

Gareth Bacon AM Member, LB Bexley 

Shaun Bailey AM  

Sian Berry AM Member, LB Camden 

Andrew Boff AM Congress of Local and Regional Authorities (Council of 
Europe) 

Leonie Cooper AM Member, LB Wandsworth 

Tom Copley AM Member, LB Lewisham 

Unmesh Desai AM  

Tony Devenish AM Member, City of Westminster 

Andrew Dismore AM  

Len Duvall AM  

Florence Eshalomi AM  

Nicky Gavron AM  

Susan Hall AM Member, LB Harrow 

David Kurten AM  

Joanne McCartney AM Deputy Mayor 

Steve O’Connell AM Member, LB Croydon  

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM  

Keith Prince AM Alternate Member, European Committee of the Regions 

Caroline Russell AM Member, LB Islington 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM  

Navin Shah AM  

Fiona Twycross AM Deputy Mayor for Fire and Resilience; Chair of the London 
Local Resilience Forum 

Peter Whittle AM  
 

[Note: LB - London Borough] 
 

3.2 Paragraph 10 of the GLA’s Code of Conduct, which reflects the relevant provisions of the Localism 

Act 2011, provides that:  
 

- where an Assembly Member has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be considered 
or being considered or at  

 

(i) a meeting of the Assembly and any of its committees or sub-committees; or  
 

(ii) any formal meeting held by the Mayor in connection with the exercise of the Authority’s 
functions  

 

- they must disclose that interest to the meeting (or, if it is a sensitive interest, disclose the fact 
that they have a sensitive interest to the meeting); and  

 

- must not (i) participate, or participate any further, in any discussion of the matter at the 
meeting; or (ii) participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the meeting 

 

UNLESS 
 

- they have obtained a dispensation from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer (in accordance with 
section 2 of the Procedure for registration and declarations of interests, gifts and hospitality – 
Appendix 5 to the Code).    

 

3.3 Failure to comply with the above requirements, without reasonable excuse, is a criminal offence; as is 

knowingly or recklessly providing information about your interests that is false or misleading. 

Page 2



        

3.4 In addition, the Monitoring Officer has advised Assembly Members to continue to apply the test that 

was previously applied to help determine whether a pecuniary / prejudicial interest was arising - 

namely, that Members rely on a reasonable estimation of whether a member of the public, with 

knowledge of the relevant facts, could, with justification, regard the matter as so significant that it 

would be likely to prejudice the Member’s judgement of the public interest.  

3.5 Members should then exercise their judgement as to whether or not, in view of their interests and 

the interests of others close to them, they should participate in any given discussions and/or 

decisions business of within and by the GLA. It remains the responsibility of individual Members to 

make further declarations about their actual or apparent interests at formal meetings noting also 

that a Member’s failure to disclose relevant interest(s) has become a potential criminal offence. 

3.6 Members are also required, where considering a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person 

from whom they have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25 within the 

previous three years or from the date of election to the London Assembly, whichever is the later, to 

disclose the existence and nature of that interest at any meeting of the Authority which they attend 

at which that business is considered.  

3.7 The obligation to declare any gift or hospitality at a meeting is discharged, subject to the proviso set 

out below, by registering gifts and hospitality received on the Authority’s on-line database. The on-

line database may be viewed here:  

https://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/gifts-and-hospitality.  

3.8 If any gift or hospitality received by a Member is not set out on the on-line database at the time of 

the meeting, and under consideration is a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person from 

whom a Member has received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25, Members 

are asked to disclose these at the meeting, either at the declarations of interest agenda item or when 

the interest becomes apparent.  

3.9 It is for Members to decide, in light of the particular circumstances, whether their receipt of a gift or 

hospitality, could, on a reasonable estimation of a member of the public with knowledge of the 

relevant facts, with justification, be regarded as so significant that it would be likely to prejudice the 

Member’s judgement of the public interest. Where receipt of a gift or hospitality could be so 

regarded, the Member must exercise their judgement as to whether or not, they should participate in 

any given discussions and/or decisions business of within and by the GLA. 

 

4. Legal Implications 
 

4.1 The legal implications are as set out in the body of this report. 

 
5. Financial Implications 
 

5.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

Contact Officer: Clare Bryant, Committee Officer 

Telephone: 020 7983 4616 

E-mail: clare.bryant@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 3

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/governance-and-spending/good-governance/gifts-and-hospitality


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



                                                                      

 

 
 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

MINUTES  
 

Meeting: Environment Committee 
Date: Wednesday 23 May 2018 
Time: 10.15 am 
Place: Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 

Walk, London, SE1 2AA 
 
Copies of the minutes may be found at:  
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/environment  

 

 
Present: 
 
Caroline Russell AM (Chair) 
Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair) 
Tony Arbour AM 
Jennette Arnold OBE AM 
Shaun Bailey AM 
Dr Onkar Sahota AM 
 
 

1   Apologies for Absence and Chair's Announcements (Item 1) 

 

1.1 Apologies for absence were received from David Kurten AM. 

 
 
2   Declarations of Interests (Item 2) 

 

2.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

2.2 Resolved: 

 

That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, be noted as disclosable pecuniary interests. 

 
 
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/environment


Greater London Authority 
Environment Committee 
Wednesday 23 May 2018 

 

 
 

 

3   Membership of Committee (Item 3) 

 

3.1  The Chair placed on record her thanks to Assembly Member Cooper for her work on behalf of 

the Committee during her two years as Chair. 

 

3.2 Resolved: 

That the membership and chairing arrangements for the Environment Committee, as 

agreed at the Annual Meeting of the London Assembly on 10 May 2018, be noted as 

follows: 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair) 

Léonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair) 

Tony Arbour AM 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM 

Shaun Bailey AM 

David Kurten AM 

Onkar Sahota AM 

 
 
4   Terms of Reference (Item 4) 

 
4.1  Resolved:  
 

That the terms of reference, as agreed at the Annual Meeting of the London 
Assembly on 10 May as set out at Agenda Item 4 for the meeting be noted. 

 
 
5   Standing Delegation of Authority (Item 5) 

 
5.1 Resolved: 
 

That the following standing delegation of authority to the Chairman of the 
Committee, as agreed by the London Assembly at its Annual Meeting on 10 May 
2018 and as set out below, be noted: 
 
To respond on the Committee’s behalf, following consultation with the lead 
Members of the party Groups on the committee or sub-committee, where it is 
consulted on issues by organisations and there is insufficient time to consider the 
consultation at a committee meeting. 

 
 

Page 6



Greater London Authority 
Environment Committee 
Wednesday 23 May 2018 

 

 
 

 

6   Minutes (Item 6) 

 

6.1 Resolved: 

 

That the minutes of the meeting held on 21 February 2018 and 15 March 2018 be 

signed by the Chair as a correct record. 

 
 
7   Summary List of Actions (Item 7) 

 

7.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

7.2 Resolved: 

 

That the completed and outstanding actions arising from its previous meetings of 

the Committee be noted. 

 
 
8   Action Taken under Delegated Authority (Item 8) 

 

8.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

8.2 Resolved: 

 

That the recent action taken by the Chair under delegated authority, namely to 

agree, in consultation with party Group Lead Members, as follows, be noted: 

 An output arising from the Waste Management Investigation; 

 An output arising from the discussion on water issues; and 

 Agree the topic, terms of reference and scope for the Committee’s first 

meeting of 2018/19 Assembly year. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 7



Greater London Authority 
Environment Committee 
Wednesday 23 May 2018 

 

 
 

 

9   Plastics - Nappies and Period Products (Item 9) 

 

9.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat as background to 

putting questions on the environmental issues related to single-use plastics focusing on 

period products and nappies to the following invited guests: 

 Mandu Reid, Founder, The Cup Effect; 

 Alice Walker, Project Manager, Real Nappies for London; 

 Kate Metcalf, Co-Director, Women’s Environmental Network; 

 Tracy Stewart, Director General, Absorbent Hygiene Products Manufacturers 

Association; and  

 Martin Capstick, Managing Director, North London Waste Authority. 

 

9.2 A transcript of the discussion is attached at Appendix 1. 

 

9.3 The Chair welcomed pupils from Mowlem Primary School, Tower Hamlets. 

 

9.4 During the course of the discussion, Members requested the following additional information:  

 Further clarity on how reusable nappies are 40% better for the environment, including 

whether there is a clear comparison with disposable nappies from Real Nappies for 

London; 

 Further information on the environmental impact from burning plastics in incinerators, 

whether the waste plants would they run more efficiently if there was less plastic in the 

waste and what the reusable nappy laundry market in north London looks like from the 

North London Waste Authority; and 

 What the advertising budget is for their products from the Absorbent Hygiene Products 

Manufacturers Association 

 

9.5 During the course of the discussion the Chair agreed to write to Royal College of Midwives to 

find out what education they currently provide on cloth nappy innovations.  

 

9.6 Resolved:  

 

(a) That the report and discussion be noted. 

(b) That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with party Group 

Lead Members, to agree any output arising from the discussion.  

 

 
 

Page 8



Greater London Authority 
Environment Committee 
Wednesday 23 May 2018 

 

 
 

 

10   Environment Committee Work Programme (Item 10) 

 

10.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

10.2 Resolved: 

 

That the work programme for the 2018/19 Assembly year, as set out in paragraphs 

4.2 to 4.15 of the agenda report be agreed.  

 
 
11   Date of Next Meeting (Item 11) 

 

11.1 The next meeting of the Committee was scheduled for Thursday, 14 June 2018 at 10.00am in 

the Chamber, City Hall. 

 
 
12   Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent (Item 12) 

 

12.1 There were no items of business that the Chair considered to be urgent. 

 
 
13   Close of Meeting  

 

13.1 The meeting ended at 12.45pm. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
    

Chair   Date 
 
Contact Officer: Clare Bryant, Committee Officer; telephone: 020 7983 4616;  

Email: clare.bryant@london.gov.uk; minicom: 020 7983 4458 
 
 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 10



 

1 

 

Appendix 1 
 

 
Environment Committee – 23 May 2018 

 
Transcript of Item 9 – Plastics – Nappies and Period Products 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  This brings us to today’s main discussion item on environmental issues related 

to single-use plastics.  We are focusing on reusable period products and nappies.  Can I welcome our guests?  

We have Mandu Reid from The Cup Effect; Alice Walker from Real Nappies for London; Kate Metcalf who is 

Co-Director of the Women’s Environmental Network; Tracy Stewart who is the Director General of Absorbent 

Hygiene Products Manufacturers Association; and we have Martin Capstick, Managing Director of the North 

London Waste Authority.  Welcome to you all.   

 

As a Committee we have been looking at the impact of single-use plastics on things like disposable water 

bottles and the problems that plastics in everyday items, like wipes, are causing to Thames Water.  We are 

extending that work now to look at single-use plastics in period products, in disposable nappies and 

incontinence products as well.  We have just had a very helpful practical session looking at some alternatives, 

therefore hopefully Members are well briefed on these items we are talking about.   

 

I would like to start by coming to Tracy, why is plastic used in nappies, incontinence and period products? 

 

Tracy Stewart (Director General, Absorbent Hygiene Products Manufacturers Association):  The type 

of plastics that are used in those products are very specifically chosen.  They are very high-tech textiles.  They 

are chosen primarily for their safety, also so that they work and do the job they are supposed to do and 

therefore the supply is consistent and ethical.  There are many, many considerations as to what type of plastic 

is chosen.  An example I gave to you, Caroline, if I may, was the back sheet on a nappy.  It has to allow air and 

water vapour to pass through to allow a baby’s bottom to stay dry while keeping the liquid in.   

 

Another factor that is very important to us - and has really brought the carbon numbers down on disposable 

nappies - is the way in which we are able to really tightly pack them now.  Years and years ago the packs would 

be big, wide and high. I used to push two trolleys around the supermarket with my two children, nappies in one 

and groceries in another.  We have managed to get those packs down to a really compact size.  They are 

absolutely rigid.  If you cut the pack open it will immediately spring apart with the nappies bursting out 

because they are under so much pressure.  That has not just happened overnight.  It has not been a matter of 

simply squashing them and wrapping them tightly.  It has been a matter of developing that film that has to be 

safe, has to work and do all the other things as well as withstand that pressure in the pack.  Any ordinary 

plastic would just split and burst.  The product would be wasted.  It would not be good for the baby; the nappy 

would potentially split on the baby.  To develop that, has been a very significant technology.  Also, to develop 

the single wrap that goes around them as well.  If you are talking about a pack that was that size and is now 

that size, you can imagine how many more you are getting into a truck.  You are taking trucks off the road.  

You are using less raw material.  You are using less energy.  You are using less fuel and all the other sort of raw 

materials that go in.  That is just one example.   

 

That is why the materials are very specifically chosen.  That is not to say that over a period of time they could 

not change.  I do not doubt that the best minds in the companies that make those products are looking at 

innovation.  It is always a very competitive thing, to always have the best product.  However, right now those 

Page 11



are the materials that are best for the product.  They are the ones that work the best and that is why they are 

chosen. 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  Thank you.  Can I bring in Alice to comment on plastic in relation to nappies, 

whether you think plastic is needed in nappies? 

 

Alice Walker (Project Manager, Real Nappies for London):  Thank you.  A standard conventional 

disposable nappy is nearly 50% plastic with superabsorbent polymers, the polyacrylates, inside the nappies.  

When there are cloth nappies available, which do a superabsorbent job already, there is opportunity.  The 

problem is the end-of-use lifecycle of disposable nappies.  Eight million nappies are thrown away in England, 

which is 3 billion a year. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  Is that 8 million a week? 

 

Alice Walker (Project Manager, Real Nappies for London):  Eight million a day are thrown away, which is 

3 billion a year.  When you think of the end-of-use lifecycle for that, it is landfill or incineration.  Today’s cloth 

nappies reflect designs primarily created by parents solving problems.  They have noticed how much waste 

nappies produces.  There is an opportunity for research and development to pick up designs. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  Thank you.  Can I bring in Mandu on period products and plastic?  A lot of 

women are not even aware there is plastic in period products. 

 

Mandu Reid (Founder, The Cup Effect):  I spent most of my life being completely oblivious to the fact that 

period products contain plastic and other non-biodegradable material.  I am 37 years old now.  I was 26 when I 

first discovered a menstrual cup, which I believe you have been briefed on.  It is a reusable alternative and lasts 

for ten years.  I have used mine for the last nine years.   

 

For me, the extraordinary thing was, why was I 26 years old when I discovered this for the first time?  Why was 

I 26 years old before I realised what the period products I had been using previously contained?  That really 

made me think that there is a job to do around making sure that everybody who is using these products has all 

the information they need so they can make an informed choice from a young age about the products they are 

using and what the alternatives that may well be available to them are.  Why was I not at 11?  Why cannot all 

the other girls in this city and in this country start thinking that through and making that choice from a super 

young age.  The answer is pretty simple, in my view.  What has worked against that information being spread, 

disseminated and shared is that products like these are a terrible business idea.  I sell you a menstrual cup, 

Tony [Arbour AM], and I have lost you as a customer for ten years.  The incentive is not really there for that 

information to be proliferated.  Nor is the incentive there for people who are going to make a choice about 

what period products they use to be given full awareness, full knowledge and full disclosure of the alternatives.   

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  I would like to come in here because, in a sense, I take issue with the word 

“simple”.  It might be simple for you but how could it be simple because you were saying you did not know 

until a certain age.  Therefore, I would ask you to reflect on the context you are talking about, a subject that is 

still taboo in huge parts of our communities, London being the most diverse community.  There are 

communities here that are at the same stage as the country of origin of the grandparents in their homes.  I do 

not think there is anything simple about this and we should not be using words like that because I think that is 

going to stop us moving on.  I would therefore challenge you on that term “simple”; it is not simple. 

 

Mandu Reid (Founder, The Cup Effect):  I absolutely accept the challenge, you are right.  The layers of 

taboo and stigma compounds the issues I outlined.  Baseline, there is a very kind of crude explanation for why 

this information is not out there but then there are layers on top of that, which clearly make the problem even 

more difficult.  That is why for me it is extraordinary today, right now, to be here in the London Assembly 

Page 12



having an open conversation about menstruation with officials who are have the power to make a difference.  

We are doing a great job being here right now, having that dialogue. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  We are prepared to talk about anything.  Some of us have been to 

sewage farms and actually seen some of the plastic products.  We have spent a lot of time talking about poo 

and a number of other things therefore we are on a roll now. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  I am very focused on the culture of this, why people do not use alternative products or 

use the current products that there are.  Is there a performance difference in the nappies and also in the 

menstruation products?  As a consumer, I might just want the one that performs the best, is there a 

performance difference? 

 

Kate Metcalf (Co-Director, Women’s Environmental Network):  I would say there is.  Menstrual cups are 

highly effective - more effective than tampons really - in terms of absorbing blood.  However, in terms of the 

plastic issue we are questioning why in disposable menstrual products plastic is needed at all.  I know there are 

products on the market that are disposables, are not reusable, which do not have plastic in.  A conventional 

menstrual pad is 90% plastic, which is equivalent to four plastic bags that then do not decompose.  Along with 

that it is filled with a load of chemicals therefore we do not actually know what is in our menstrual products.  

That is at the heart of the issue.  If you go on the AHPMA (Absorbent Hygiene Products Manufacturers 

Association) website, for example, it is hard to find out the exact list of ingredients that are in tampons and 

pads.  If people knew the ingredients then they could decide, “I do not want to put those chemicals in my body 

or then put them into landfill”.  It is about giving consumers - as Mandu said - an informed choice to be able 

to make these decisions that are right for themselves. 

 

Mandu Reid (Founder, The Cup Effect):  Every woman is different; therefore, this is not about imposing 

one set of options on the people who would use these products.  In my experience with the women I have 

worked with through The Cup Effect, we get a 77% uptake rate with women who try menstrual cups.  For 

many of them their experience echoed mine.  They find it to be more reliable, more convenient and more 

comfortable than the alternatives they used.  I would not have used it for nine years if that was not the case, I 

can afford the regularly available products.   

 

As a little technical thing, a menstrual cup like this can hold up to three times the capacity of your average pad 

or tampon.  I normally do this demonstration with red wine, which I am not going to do here and now, which 

proves that.  Unless you have a very heavy menstrual cycle you can go the whole day. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  Should that not be blue wine because that is the traditional colour that 

we normally see on the television?  I mean, really, it has to be blue wine because that is so natural, is it not. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  Very good.  Is there any way that consumers can find out at the moment how 

much plastic is in their menstrual products, or indeed in the nappies as well that they are using on their babies? 

 

Kate Metcalf (Co-Director, Women’s Environmental Network):  The industry assures us of the safety of 

these products but will not reveal the details of the tests.  It has been up to non-governmental organisations 

(NGOs) and consumer organisations to do the tests on these products.  When they did they found an 

unbelievable list of chemicals present; possible carcinogens, glycophosphate, chlorine dioxin and various other 

endocrine disrupting chemicals in conventional menstrual products.  That is a huge consumer issue, why should 

the onus be on these NGOs to conduct these tests rather than the industry to provide safe products in the first 

place. 

 

Alice Walker (Project Manager, Real Nappies for London):  Tracy, do you advertise how much plastic is 

in the nappies? Page 13



 

Tracy Stewart (Director General, Absorbent Hygiene Products Manufacturers Association):  We do 

not advertise it but we are recognising that people - not just in this country but in other countries, particularly 

across Europe - are asking these questions.  We do respect that that is something we need to be looking at.  

We are actively looking at that now.  In fact, we have engaged with your organisation very recently on some 

more detailed discussion.  We are very happy to take that further.   

 

I have to say that all products are different.  AHPMA is a trade association so we can only discuss generic 

terms.  While the products are largely similar it would be down to individual companies to decide what they can 

and cannot reveal.  In terms of operating within competition law and things like that, there are constraints.  

Products are entirely safe, absolutely entirely safe.  I would not be sitting here now if they were not.  I would 

not have used them myself, my family would not use them and so on.   

 

Kate Metcalf (Co-Director, Women’s Environmental Network):  If that is the case then some 

transparency would be fine.  I think that is happening.  

 

Tracy Stewart (Director General, Absorbent Hygiene Products Manufacturers Association):  I agree 

with you but I do not want to leave here with an aspersion that products are not safe.  If you test anything 

with the aggressive methods you can test anything with - the clothing we are wearing, the water in that jug, 

anything, your products as well - you will find things at whatever level, trace levels.  That does not mean the 

product is not safe.  That has happened with alternative products as well, I have to assure you. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  Tracy, do you think there would be an appetite amongst the manufacturers of 

these products to provide more transparency? 

 

Tracy Stewart (Director General, Absorbent Hygiene Products Manufacturers Association):  There is.  

I can confirm that and that is something that individually a number of them are looking at, and that collectively 

we are looking at. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  You mentioned competition.  Are there any blockages to getting that 

transparency that we should be exposing? 

 

Tracy Stewart (Director General, Absorbent Hygiene Products Manufacturers Association):  I am 

talking about competition law and disclosing commercially confidential information.  That is something that is 

prohibited.  I do not know how far that would go but I flag that up as a consideration when you are having 

these discussions.  There are some limitations, particularly when you are innovating a product you cannot 

discuss that product or your future plans until that product is actually on the shelf.  There are those kinds of 

things that we have to observe as well. 

 

Kate Metcalf (Co-Director, Women’s Environmental Network):  Why is it all wrapped in plastic?  

Menstrual products are not classified as medical devices therefore the excess packaging is not really necessary.  

They are not sterile products.  Some of the fragrances, again, are a mixture of a whole cocktail of chemicals as 

well.  There can be up to 3,000 chemicals in a fragrance.  Why is that necessary in a menstrual product?  I 

would say why do you need fragrance to be added to some of these products?  That is what I would like to 

question. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  That also brings us back to the taboo thing with the little packages where you 

have things wrapped in plastic that is covered in flowers as if it might be embarrassing to be found with a 

period product in your handbag, whereas those individual packages could always be put into a reusable bag in 

your handbag.  You do not necessarily need them to be individually wrapped. 

 Page 14



Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  Tracy, I have a couple of questions around the interface with the producers of 

these products.  You are the association that represents producers, is that right? 

 

Tracy Stewart (Director General, Absorbent Hygiene Products Manufacturers Association):  The end 

producers, the end converters of the product. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  What do you mean, “the end producers”? 

 

Tracy Stewart (Director General, Absorbent Hygiene Products Manufacturers Association):  The 

companies that put the products onto the market rather than the supply chain.  They are the companies that 

either make for a customer, such as a retailer and the product will go out under the retailer’s name, or they are 

the big brands that we all know. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  Surely to get change we have to go back to the original producers.  For instance, 

I sit on a committee in Brussels representing London.  A Belgium company is the largest global producer of 

nappies and hygiene products.  There was a recent survey there and there is no pressure on them to change, if 

you like, the information that is coming out about their product.  In a sense, you are blocked in terms of 

anything you can do because you are representing the interface with the public but change has to take place 

at the manufacturing base? 

 

Tracy Stewart (Director General, Absorbent Hygiene Products Manufacturers Association):  That is 

right, but there is a will to do so. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  What do you mean there is a will to do so? 

 

Tracy Stewart (Director General, Absorbent Hygiene Products Manufacturers Association):  Because 

we are hearing that people are wanting to know more.  At our organisation and at our sister organisation - 

remember I was here with somebody from EDANA the last time we sat in front of you - this is an active 

programme at the moment.  We are looking at what more generically we can put out.  I know that a couple of 

the bigger brands have actually now got listings on their websites of what is in their product.  They are not 

going to go down into minute detail but they are going to give the main ingredients and what the product is 

largely composed of.  Under the Consumer Product Safety Directive, they are meeting all of their requirements 

currently.  I guess that is another thing to consider, that they are providing what they need to. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  A follow-up question because there is no meeting without Brexit now, is there, 

from where you are sitting clearly you have thought through the impact of Brexit on your organisations.  Will 

we get more clarity?  Will the cost of the products be higher given that there may well be additional tariffs? 

 

Tracy Stewart (Director General, Absorbent Hygiene Products Manufacturers Association):  We are a 

long way from really knowing that, there is so little coming out at the moment.  All of what you have said is a 

distinct possibility and probably quite likely.  However, at the moment we have very little to go on.  We would 

like to know more but there is very little information at the moment. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  There are implications -- 

 

Tracy Stewart (Director General, Absorbent Hygiene Products Manufacturers Association):  There 

will be, for sure. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  -- in terms of information and costs. 

 

Page 15



Tracy Stewart (Director General, Absorbent Hygiene Products Manufacturers Association):  I would 

say so. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  We talk about the chemicals used in these products.  We talk about whether they are 

unnecessarily packaged and fragrant.  Are we in danger of telling the consumer what they want?  Some women 

may like the colourful packaging or the fragrance.  Are you saying that should be outlawed and that is wrong 

as well?  Do you want to remove that choice? 

 

Kate Metcalf (Co-Director, Women’s Environmental Network):  People need to have a proper informed 

choice of what the chemicals are in these fragrances, the health implications and the possible link to cancer 

and infertility. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  You say, “possible link”.  You could level that accusation at almost everything we 

consume, sit on or eat.  If we do it that way the package will be an A4 piece of paper with possibilities written 

on it.  Is that a risk? 

 

Kate Metcalf (Co-Director, Women’s Environmental Network):  The packaging is creating so much 

waste per year.  Disposable menstrual products, along with the packaging, generates 200,000 tonnes of waste 

per year.  That is an awful lot that we could prevent.  The average consumer does not want to see all the 

plastic in the oceans and ending up in seas.  This is contributing to that.  It is about letting people make the 

proper informed decisions, with the right information. 

 

Tracy Stewart (Director General, Absorbent Hygiene Products Manufacturers Association):  May I 

come in on that?  This is a discussion on weight we are having with yourselves at the moment, we have had 

some very polite and open correspondence between us.  However, I strongly dispute the 200,000 tonnes.  We 

know exactly how much goes onto the market, we have the manufacturing data.  Let me tell you that there is 

just over 15,000 tonnes dry-weight of product that goes onto the market.  Even wet weight, saturated weight 

and adding as much packaging as you can, you could not make that into 200,000 tonnes. 

 

Kate Metcalf (Co-Director, Women’s Environmental Network):  We have done a lot of research so I am 

happy to share our calculations 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Is this not a problem for the consumer?  The point I am getting at is that we are getting 

close to people’s opinion.  I fully accept we would want as little waste as possible.  I fully accept that some 

information is right.  However, I wonder if we are angling at dictating to people what they are going to have or 

not.  That is my only worry. 

 

Martin Capstick (Managing Director, North London Waste Authority):  I wonder if I might comment on 

that.  There is a very closely related issue and there are two questions; one is what is going into the product 

and the second one is how do we dispose of it.  One of the things that we see a bit from our authority’s 

perspective is that people assume that if you improve the nature of the product that is going in, that somehow 

makes it more recyclable at the end.  That is not always the case.  They are separate issues.  One of the things 

that is important for consumers is helping them to understand the benefits but also the fact that just the fact 

something is good in one area does not necessarily mean it is perfect in everything.  You are right, there is a 

real challenge on how you have messages that have enough detail for people who really want to take an 

interest but then do not confuse consumers in an unhelpful way.  Particularly, what is the input and what is the 

disposal are two separate things that we need to communicate quite carefully. 

 

Mandu Reid (Founder, The Cup Effect):  Assembly Member Bailey, with respect to the alternative products 

that are out there, the ones that are more reusable, they - if you ask me - are a classic example of a public 

good, to use very basic economics.  They suffer from suboptimal distribution because of market failure and Page 16



basic market failures around imperfect information.  People do not even know they exist.  Menstrual cups have 

been around since the 1930s yet a tiny proportion of people who could potentially use them are aware that 

they exist and do not even understand how they work.  Then there is a slight monopoly factor whereby you 

have the big manufacturers who dominate the production of options that are out there.  There are the positive 

externalities whereby the benefits of using a menstrual cup, for example, accrue to the entire community.  

There is no incentive really for the manufacturers to put that information out there.  Therefore, there is a role 

for public authorities and others to ensure people have the information they need to make an informed choice.  

It is not about dictating to consumers.  It is not about telling them what to do.  It is about making sure that 

when they make choices they are doing so with full knowledge of what they are buying into and what might be 

an alternative they could consider. 

 

Alice Walker (Project Manager, Real Nappies for London):  What you were saying applies to reusable 

nappies as well. 

 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM:  This whole debate is not about how you manage menstruation but the impact of the 

products we use.  That is what the debate is really about.  I come from a background in medicine and I see this 

issue regularly.  This is an opportunity for us to look at what the impacts are of the products we are using and 

to inform the public so they can make better informed decisions. 

 

Can you please tell me what the environmental impacts of these products are? 

 

Mandu Reid (Founder, The Cup Effect):  I am going to defer to Martin a little on the detail about impact.  

What I will say is there are various estimates out there but a middle-of-the-road estimate is that from puberty 

to menopause a woman will use in the region of 10,000 menstrual products, every single woman.  That equates 

to about 150 kilograms worth of waste for every single woman.  That equates to two minibuses full, for every 

single woman.  There is a significant material volume that needs to be disposed of.  I will hand over to Martin 

to demonstrate what that can mean in our sewer system but there are significant consequences to that volume 

of waste being generated as a matter of course. 

 

Martin Capstick (Managing Director, North London Waste Authority):  If I start off with nappies, which 

are bigger by volume.  For the North London Waste Authority, they are about 3% of our total collections.  We 

collect something like 800,000 tonnes of waste per year, therefore you get an idea of the size.  Broadly 

speaking we spend £30 million a year on our main waste contract, which is our black bin waste disposal.  

Therefore 3% is in the order of £1 million.  The North London council taxpayers are spending £1 million a year 

to dispose of nappies.  The average cost of our services per resident is just over £30.  If you are talking 3% of 

that you can work out that it costs a few pence per resident.   

 

In terms of period products, I am less able to comment.  They are a smaller amount of the waste stream but 

clearly, they would still be subject to collection and disposal at the same cost per tonne.  To the extent that 

adversely affects Thames Water, or other water companies - I can understand that is much more the social 

focus - their disposal is a matter for themselves and the commercial therefore those do not come to us.  

Therefore, the costs of things that are flushed into the sewers is well over and above what we are having to 

pay for through the Authority. 

 

If I can say, those are the identified costs.  The other thing that is a particular challenge for us on nappies - 

again, I realise it is moving the debate slightly therefore I will not go too far in that direction - is people who 

are, if I may say, so impressed by the marketing of disposable nappies that they think they are recyclable, not 

that that is what the packaging says.  There is a proportion of parents who think that disposable nappies are 

recyclable.  They put them in their recycling.  That contaminates the load.  That then means we have some 

loads that go to our recycling facilities that then have to be rejected and disposed of separately.  We do not 

quantify that by exact source but disposable nappies are a significant source of contamination.  Again, helping Page 17



people to understand the right route of disposal is an important thing for us.  That is probably enough of a 

statistic attack for now but I am happy to give you more details if you would like. 

 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM:  Let us talk about menstruation products and the impact on water.  Are they all 

flushable? 

 

Kate Metcalf (Co-Director, Women’s Environmental Network):  No, that is a huge problem.  Over half, 

60%, of women flush down the toilet.  Maybe they do not know or it is because of the taboo around 

menstruation.  They just want to flush it away and maybe do not know the impact.  That has a huge impact on 

our seas, rivers and it gets onto our beaches.  Menstrual products can take up to 500 years to decompose 

therefore that is another thing.  The Marine Conservation Society did a beach clean.  For every 100 metres of 

beach they found 4.8 pieces of menstrual waste.  That could include plastic tampon applicators - again, why 

are they plastic, they used to be cardboard - and panty liner backing strips.  All of that can end up in our sewer 

system and on beaches.   

 

Even when it is in landfill, because of all the residues on these products, they leach into our soils and into our 

waterways.  It is like a toxic soup, if you like, in landfill that is affecting our health.   

 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM:  Are the consumers given accurate information?  When it says, “This is flushable” is it 

really flushable?  When it says, “This is biodegradable”, is it really biodegradable?  Is that information 

accurate? 

 

Kate Metcalf (Co-Director, Women’s Environmental Network):  I think it says, “Do not flush” in tiny 

writing therefore people do not look.  There is not enough information to know about that as well.  People do 

not want to talk about it.  As Mandu said, this is part of the whole culture of shame.  Even some of the 

conventional manufacturers have played into that.  Think of all the adverts never showing blood but blue liquid 

and it is all something you have to hide.  That does not help to have honest discussions about how to deal with 

it. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  I have to ask one thing here, is there a problem with a lack of bins in toilets?  

Is that something that contributes to people flushing? 

 

Kate Metcalf (Co-Director, Women’s Environmental Network):  That could be a factor, yes, definitely. 

 

Mandu Reid (Founder, The Cup Effect):  I think it really varies.  When I used to use disposable products, I 

would typically flush them.  That was what felt more convenient for me.  I was a bit lazy.  It just felt like a 

bigger deal to wrap them up and put them away in the bin.  That was what I used to do and I think I am not 

uncommon.  If it is 60% I am certainly not uncommon.  There was just never a moment where I had a dialogue 

with myself and where I was confronted by what the consequence of that might be.  There was nothing to 

stimulate me to make an alternative discussion.  There is a big gap there and work to do.   

 

Tracy Stewart (Director General, Absorbent Hygiene Products Manufacturers Association):  If I 

might get one small point out of the way, the blue liquid is a requirement of the Taste and Decency Rules for 

advertising.  That is why it is used.  None of us are frightened of talking about periods.   

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  I mean it is so embarrassing, is it not, having periods for women.  There 

are very few women who have them after all.  We have no taste and we have clearly no decency. 

 

Tracy Stewart (Director General, Absorbent Hygiene Products Manufacturers Association):  That is 

the reason for that.  If I might also say that no sanitary protection products are flushable.  They should not be 

flushed, absolutely not.  We would be entirely with everybody here on that point.  We do not want to see our Page 18



products causing a problem.  We are looking at improving the labelling on products and hopefully it is going to 

be a fairly big change.  When I was here last time we detailed the new guidance for wipes manufacturers, which 

is to bring the “do not flush” onto the top of the pack in a bold specified symbol of two specified sizes that are 

actually quite large.  Those products are really doing it now.  I probably cannot mention the names but they are 

very, very noticeable.  There is mixed interpretation of the guidance but they have got until the end of October 

to get this on their packs.  That is really important and it is leading the way.  We are seeing other initiatives in 

some of the supermarkets where they are putting that symbol in various formats onto other products, which is 

great.   

 

I can probably not get into too much detail saying that we have a code of practice for tampon manufacturers.  

The last time we reviewed that we specified the symbol.  We are reviewing it again to see how much further we 

can take that forward as well.  It is really, really important and we do not want to hear of those products 

causing a problem in sewers, that is vital to us.  

 

There was a report that came out by Water UK, which was put together by the 11 water companies.  The 

industry supported it and also the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs supported it.  I am not 

looking to defend anything but I will say that surprisingly little femcare was found in that.  The vast proportion 

- and possibly where there is some confusion over the weight figures - was wipes, absolutely non-flushable 

wipes.  Of the blockages or identifiable masses that were examined, 75% were baby wipes alone.  The vast 

proportion of the remainder was other types of wipes - like facial wipes and surface wipes - and some femcare.  

However, the femcare was literally a few per cent, which we were pleased to see.  There were also one or two 

tampon applicators, which was a nice surprise. 

 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM:  One more question about education.  When young girls are about to start their 

periods should they get education in their classrooms and from their parents?  Parents may not be fully 

informed but do the teachers discuss the range of products available for the girls to manage this very real 

biological situation they will be finding themselves in? 

 

Kate Metcalf (Co-Director, Women’s Environmental Network):  They should do. 

 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM:  Does it happen in our schools at the moment? 

 

Mandu Reid (Founder, The Cup Effect):  I think it is very rare that it happens.  That is partly because a lot 

of the teachers themselves are not aware of the alternatives.  They may not be confident, even if they are 

aware of the alternatives, to stand up in front of a classroom for some of the reasons that Assembly Member 

Arnold mentioned around the stigma and taboo and also just a simple lack of knowledge.  There is a real gap 

there.  One of the things that tends to happen across the country is the module where kids are taught about 

menstruation - how to handle it and how to manage it - is more often than not outsourced to the big 

manufacturers.  You get the Tampax lady who comes in.  She is the one who leads the session that takes the 

girls - usually the boys are kicked out of the classroom at that point - through, “This is what your period is and 

this is how you handle it”.  Clearly there is an incentive and a vested interest in a disposable menstrual product 

manufacturer in not giving much airtime, if at all, to the alternatives.  This is why some of the alternatives 

should be seen as a public good.  There really is an opportunity for schools and teachers to be equipped with 

the knowledge and information to impart effectively to their students.  It would make a big change in people’s 

ability to make an informed choice if we zoomed in on schools. 

 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM:  I think there is a recommendation here too. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  Indeed, recommendations are falling out of the air. 

 

Page 19



Kate Metcalf (Co-Director, Women’s Environmental Network):  We have been contacted by concerned 

parents who did not know that this was happening in their schools by some of the big brands and they were 

outraged.  It was even done through the National Health Service (NHS) nurse and they were only given 

products from the big brands.  Yes, quite a lot of parents have contacted us about that. 

 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM:  Thank you. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  Maybe this is a question for my colleague, Assembly Member Sahota, 

who in a parallel life is also a general practitioner (GP).  My question is: are we getting the messages out about 

real nappies to parents when babies are first born via the NHS, GPs and nurses, and getting those messages 

out?  Also, are we getting those messages out for young girls?  I think some of the messaging is too late in 

schools, starting with girls when they are 15 or 16.  Maybe schools should be having those sessions with girls a 

bit younger.  Are we also getting those messages out through the health service?  People go regularly to see 

the doctor or the nurse.  Is it at that point where those discussions should be taking place?   

 

Alice Walker (Project Manager, Real Nappies for London):  That is a really good point.  More can be 

done to raise more awareness of and education about the alternatives to disposable nappies at ante natal 

classes.  I am going to use Hackney as an example.  They do the Hackney Real Nappy Network.  They do a lot 

of outreach there at the moment.  They pop along to the antenatal classes.  I have dropped off some of our 

leaflets to hospitals as well and they are happy to pass them on.  However, it is dominated by disposable 

nappies.  The first nappy a midwife puts on for the baby when the baby has just arrived is going to be a 

disposable one.  There should be more options to say, “Here is the education.  Here are the different types.”  

Also, “Would you like your baby to be in a cloth nappy or a reusable nappy?” The parent can take the baby 

home in it. They have the choice of bringing the nappy in as well, which is a key message.  They should not 

feel marginalised for bringing a cloth nappy into the hospital, being prepared, and things like that.   

 

I definitely think education through NHS antenatal classes and the National Childbirth Trust (NCT) as well.  It 

should not just be down to local authorities to be raising awareness and the messaging.  More could be done 

as a collective whole. 

 

Kate Metcalf (Co-Director, Women’s Environmental Network):  The problem is the big brands pay to get 

in the Bounty pack, £100,000.  The smaller cloth nappies simply do not have that budget, unless the NHS 

completely commits to promoting it.   

 

Alice Walker (Project Manager, Real Nappies for London):  Yes, I think it should be a fair game really. 
 
Kate Metcalf (Co-Director, Women’s Environmental Network):  It is not an equal playing field. 
 
Martin Capstick (Managing Director, North London Waste Authority):  I strongly agree with Alice.  The 
health service has a particularly valuable position in this because it is so trusted.  One of the things is that you 
can put out information but if you put out information through the health service it is much more likely to be 
trusted.  I know it has a lot to do but that makes it a particularly valuable place, in particular in the lead-up to 
childbirth when there is a series of interactions.  It is not popping into your GP and, with any luck, you do not 
have to see them again for another ten years.  It is part of a regular interaction therefore it does not have to 
be, “Here is a massive message, listen to it”.  It can be helping parents to prepare and think.  A bit of 
intelligence we get is that parents generally who go for reusable nappies think about it in advance.  They do 
not have a baby and suddenly go, “Right, I better go and buy a load of reusable nappies”.  Helping people to 
think a couple of months out would be a really useful thing.  That is not forcing people.   
 
I definitely understand that although they are significantly improved from when I had children still some 
parents will choose not to use them.  Indeed, some parents who strongly favour reusable nappies will also 
sometimes use disposable nappies if they are out on a trip or maybe their childminder requires that.  Again, it is 
getting parents to understand that it is not an all or nothing choice.  You can think about using them.  If we Page 20



could develop a second-hand market - I am not saying the NHS should develop a second-hand market - again, 
that makes it easier for parents to experiment. 
 
That leads me to say can the NHS be a gateway to more of a parental network that helps to demythologise the 
challenges of reusable nappies?  Putting all the weight on the health service - expecting one person to have 
one conversation and say that as a result of that we transform the world - will not quite get us there.  It is part 
of a process.  It feels to me like it is part of the steps.   

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  Certainly in terms of any form of behaviour change it is having regular 

messaging from multiple sources.  That is why I was asking that question as to whether or not that would be 

helpful.  Thank you for that. 

 

Alice Walker (Project Manager, Real Nappies for London):  Nurseries are a really big aspect and I do not 

think we mentioned it.  Applying a model of saying children who are in the nurseries can be wearing reusable 

nappies.  There could be a laundry service that provides the cleaning of them.  To show support to a parent 

who would like the baby to be at nursery wearing a reusable nappy, and not to say, “No, you are not allowed 

to wear them”.  It is making that clear and not marginalising parents who do use reusable nappies. 

 

There is education for midwives as well, to show them cloth nappy innovations.  Maybe they still have a bit of 

traditional views of what a cloth nappy is.   

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  The time we are in is so important and this discussion is so important that I 

would ask through you, Chair, we contact the Royal College of Midwives (RCM).  I would hate for us to be 

thinking they are not already doing this.  Good practice is usually at the leading end of change before it 

becomes, if you like, authorised.  The RCM would be able to give us that information.  I totally agree with you.  

As Martin says, it is a series of meetings and interventions at that point of life - I did a bit of it myself - where 

you are that person’s trusted adviser.  That is a good point but I would not want us to go away thinking that is 

not being done now. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  We will definitely ask for that to happen. 

 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM:  I want to make one comment, that manufacturers do give free gifts to new mothers 

when the baby is born, a gift pack.  I think the education process has to start from our schools.  Let us not 

medicalise having babies or periods more than it needs to be because it is a normal physiological event.  

Education in schools is very important for girls about to start menstruation.  The build-up to a pregnancy is a 

long-term thing and there needs to be discussion about that.  Also, help groups for mothers and babies are 

very important.  I remember the days when babies were brought home and you went to your neighbour to ask 

for good advice rather than going to the GP.  It is a community effort with support groups that this is what we 

should be doing. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  You mean more networking of information? 

 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM:  Yes, rather than leaving it on the NHS or to the GP.  The RCM will tell you also there 

is a shortage of midwives in this country already. 

 

Alice Walker (Project Manager, Real Nappies for London):  This is why bottom-up schemes, like Real 

Nappies for London, are so important.  It provides that extra support for knowledge and information to 

parents.  It is crucial.  It is so difficult sometimes to put the message out.  More support for cloth nappy 

networks, cloth nappy libraries and bottom-up schemes, like Real Nappies for London, could help alleviate 

pressure.  Also, like Martin was saying, going to antenatal classes and to hospitals if there is that direction as 

well. 

 Page 21



Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  A cloth nappy library, is that where you borrow nappies or you borrow books? 

 

Alice Walker (Project Manager, Real Nappies for London):  Cloth nappy libraries are kind of a 

sharing/hiring system.  One of the main challenges is the upfront cost to buy reusable nappies.  There is a UK 

Cloth Nappy Network that has packs and parents can hire them out, use them for a few weeks, see how they 

go and then bring them back.   

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  How could these products be less environmentally impactful?  Would it be possible to 

recycle these products?  I am talking about disposable nappies and disposable one-use menstrual products.  Is 

there any way they could be environmentally less impactful than they are now? 

 

Martin Capstick (Managing Director, North London Waste Authority):  Thinking about, as I said earlier, 

what goes into them and what comes out of them and focusing on the disposal of them, it is very difficult 

because at the moment the waste that we collect in most boroughs either goes into a black bag, which is 

collected and then disposed of - in our case predominately to be converted into energy, to be burnt - or it 

goes into the green bin and then taken to the recycling facility where things are separated out.  That recycling 

facility does not have the capability to recycle the contents of nappies.   

 

I have been aware of developments in Italy, where they have developed a hygiene product specific facility that 

does enable materials to be taken out of hygiene products and converted into things that have another life.  

That would not be doable through an authority effectively, we do not have the scale to make it worthwhile.  If 

you were going to go down that road there would then be the need for a facility.  The question would then be 

how we would engage with producers to ensure you can supply and fund that facility.  One of the challenges in 

the waste sector particularly is that there are some things that might be technically possible but are very 

difficult to be practically possible.  Certainly, in North London, if nappies were made of materials that were a 

bit more recyclable, it would be very hard for us to do anything other than just dispose of them in the same 

way as now.  That is why we do think reusables have a significant advantage.  If we were looking at disposal, 

we would have to look at a broader producer responsibility scheme that would then need to be connected with 

collections and focused disposal in that way. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  You are almost talking a separate facility London-wide and being far broader? 

 

Martin Capstick (Managing Director, North London Waste Authority):  Or even beyond London 

potentially. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  It would be a far bigger event, quite frankly. 

 

Martin Capstick (Managing Director, North London Waste Authority):  I think that is right.  As I say, 

my understanding is that is technically possible.  We have not looked into the economics of it, what it will cost, 

but I think it will be on that sort of scale.   

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  Shaun, can I interrupt you for a moment so we can welcome the children from 

Mowlem Primary School from Tower Hamlets who have come to join us.  This morning we are talking about 

disposable nappies.  Have any of you got younger brothers and sisters?  Are they babies and do they have 

nappies?  Do any of them use reusable nappies that get washed? No.  In London there are an awful lot of 

nappies that have to get thrown away.  We are talking about what happens to all those nappies and also 

talking about how you can get some nappies that get washed in the washing machine, which means there is 

not so much stuff to throw away.  That is what we are up to.  Welcome to you all.  

  

Page 22



Shaun Bailey AM:  Are manufacturers trying to make things more recyclable?  If so, listening to Martin’s 

comments, is it going to have any impact?  He is saying there is more than just the fact there is recyclable 

material that needs to be taken into account. 

 

Tracy Stewart (Director General, Absorbent Hygiene Products Manufacturers Association):  They 

can be recycled is the answer to that if the technology is in place.  It does exist.  In fact, only last year a 

36,000-tonne plant was refused planning on the outskirts of London.  It is a company that has existed for 30 

or so years.  They have good technology.  They have set up in various countries.  I do not want to speak on 

their behalf but I can just tell you what I know of the history they have of operating in various countries around 

the world.  They have progressed their technology.  They have come to the UK.  They did have a small plant 

just outside of Birmingham as a pilot.  They decided they needed to adjust the technology so they stopped 

with an intention of starting again.  They were all ready to go.  In fact, Caroline has met the firm I am talking 

about.  They simply could not break through the planning problem of people saying, “We really want this but 

could you put it somewhere else, please?”  That is the difficulty.   

 

There is an operation in Wales that has been going on for quite a number of years now that deals with nappy 

waste in Wales.  There is a company based on the West Country that has a food waste collection process, 

where you can put another system onto the front end that will remove the plastics and the rest of the nappy 

will go through with the food waste.  They have the right kind of materials to make anaerobic digestion (AD), 

with food waste technology, work really well.  Certainly, one of the main brands at the moment - you were 

talking about Italy - now has an operation in Italy and is looking to come to the UK with that.  The other 

brands are doing the same.   

 

Ultimately if the technology is in place - it can be small plants on farms or bigger plants like the one that was 

planned for outside of London - yes, they are recyclable and there is a market for the output.  

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  That is great.  Almost to go back to Martin’s comments, there is a difference between it 

being technically possible and it being physically possible, and also viable.  In one sense that is an argument for 

reusables because the planning issue will always be an issue.  If you can avoid that by having something that is 

recyclable, in my little head count that goes on the side of reusables being more viable and a more welcomed 

option.   

 

My worry with the recyclables is scale. The scale at which the current disposables is being used is a huge 

problem for reusables.  I wonder if there is more that can be done to make the reusables viable because I 

cannot see this scale issue being solved any time soon.  We still have the rubbish that they generate, the 

chemicals in them, and the blockages of the sewers.   

 

Just to drill down, are producers then working together with waste authorities as well to make these sites more 

abundant?  Will they be around so a council can get access to this stuff? 

 

Tracy Stewart (Director General, Absorbent Hygiene Products Manufacturers Association):  I get 

your point that planning is always going to be a problem.  However, we are moving in that direction.  It is 

definitely the direction of travel and it has to be the direction of travel as well.  At the moment, the priority is 

to make sure that the product is compatible with existing treatment plants that are there and in existence.  

They work very well in energy-from-waste when they are burnt.  They have a very high nitrogen content.  They 

are compatible with landfill technologies.  They are compatible with diaper recycling technologies, whether 

that is AD with a plastics-removing system at the front end, or whether that is a specific technology that is 

going to reconvert the plastics and the cellulose in them.  There is a very good market, apparently, for pet 

litter, for the fluff pulp and so on.  It is there and it can be done.  It is just a matter of that technology being 

available for the products to be taken to. 

 Page 23



Kate Metcalf (Co-Director, Women’s Environmental Network):  Just a minor point about menstrual 

products.  For Natracare, for example - that are disposable menstrual products but plastic free and organic 

cotton - they recommend on their website that you can compost their products.  If you have a garden and a 

compost bin, they will biodegrade and you can put them in your compost bin.  Obviously, if you are living in a 

flat, or how to do that on a big scale, it is maybe not viable. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  That raises the issue of whether some of these products can be composted.  

The ones that get buried in landfill that have plastic in them, how long will they take to break down? 

 

Kate Metcalf (Co-Director, Women’s Environmental Network):  I think about 500 years. 

 

Tracy Stewart (Director General, Absorbent and Hygienic Product Manufacturers Association):  That 

is very speculative.  They have only been around for the last few decades. 

 

Kate Metcalf (Co-Director, Women’s Environmental Network):  Yes.  They have said that, with a 

disposable nappy, that if Henry XIII had been wearing a nappy, we would still have his nappy.  It would still be 

in landfill now.  That is how long it takes to break down. 

 

Alice Walker (Project Manager, Real Nappies for London):  On the BBC website, I saw that they had 

some charts explaining the effects of plastics.  There was a chart saying that a disposable nappy takes the same 

amount of time, about 400 years, as a plastic bottle to break down in landfill.  Now, we are doing a lot on 

diverting plastic bottles and so it is really great that we are talking about it, but we have to remember the 

waste hierarchy and that waste prevention and reuse is on the top.  With reusables, we are eliminating that 

waste and so the end life is that, but then, with eco-disposables, they are trying to get their products to be 

more biodegradable.  Some products are claiming to be about 77% biodegradable now in landfill.  However, 

the issue is, if everything is being sent to an incinerator at the moment in London, then it does not really 

match up. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  We do have a certain amount that goes to landfill, do we not, Martin? 

 

Martin Capstick (Managing Director, North London Waste Authority):  No, it is around 9% for our 

authority.  That is very significantly down from what it has been in the past, but there is some. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Just to clarify, 9% of the waste that you collect goes to landfill? 

 

Martin Capstick (Managing Director, North London Waste Authority):  Yes. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  And the rest? 

 

Martin Capstick (Managing Director, North London Waste Authority):  It either is recycled or goes to 

our energy-to-waste plant. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Is that a typical figure?  That seems very high. 

 

Martin Capstick (Managing Director, North London Waste Authority):  I think that we perform pretty 

well, actually, but generally the introduction of the landfill tax has encouraged all waste authorities, really, to 

look at alternative ways of removing and disposing of waste.  Generally, we have seen the development of 

energy-for-waste plants in and around London, latterly, for example, a riverside one in Bexley, which is a new 

facility.  Generally, landfill is significantly declining as a way of dealing with waste, particularly in London where 

we are space constrained. 

 Page 24



Alice Walker (Project Manager, Real Nappies for London):  Could I add to Martin’s point?  I found out 

last year that only 12% in London of all the household waste was sent to landfill. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  When we talk about the environmental impact of these products, both reusable and  

one-use, is there a difference in the energy used to produce them in the first place?  I suppose, if something is 

going to last a long time, is it off sturdier component parts?  Does it take more energy to produce?  Is there a 

significant difference in how you produce these things? 

 

Tracy Stewart (Director General, Absorbent and Hygienic Product Manufacturers Association):  The 

Life Cycle Assessment that was run by the Environment Agency and published in 2008, which was an update of 

one that was published in 2005, showed that there was pretty much equivalence between the two when you 

take him to account everything throughout the whole life cycle of products.  As you say, one has longevity and 

the other has not and will use water and that water then is wastewater that goes into a wastewater treatment 

plant, whereas ours go into landfill.  When they are thoroughly examined, they are about the same and so we 

say it is. 

 

Alice Walker (Project Manager, Real Nappies for London): Are you talking about washable pads 

compared to -- 

 

Tracy Stewart (Director General, Absorbent and Hygienic Product Manufacturers Association):  No, 

I am talking about nappies, sorry. 

 

Alice Walker (Project Manager, Real Nappies for London):  Nappies?  All right.  The way I understood 

the Life Cycle Analysis the 2008 one, is that it does say that reusable nappies are up to 40% better for the 

environment, following a guideline of not tumble-drying your cloth nappies but line-drying them, not washing 

above 60 [degrees].  What has failed to be noticed by the media is that cloth nappies are 40% better. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  It depends if people stick to those stipulations.  The problem we have in London is the 

ability to line-dry is a little bit of a luxury for most people, quite frankly.  I used to live in a flat on the fifth 

floor and the tumble-dryer, unfortunately, got used.  We have to look at the reality of these things.  You say it 

is 40% better, but how?  Is that from an energy point of view?  What is the clear comparator here?  If you are 

asking us to recommend that public resources are used to promote a particular thing, we have to be very 

certain that that thing does have the public good, as you say.  When you give us a figure of 40%, it has to be a 

comparator that we can easily explain to people who are not as deeply interested as we are now.  Do you see 

what I mean?  I do not understand what that 40% means. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  Assembly Member Bailey, I wonder if we should get those figures sent to us 

after the meeting.  That might be helpful. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  Just before I move on to Assembly Member Cooper, there is one thing I just 

wanted to clarify.  When the plastics in these disposable products are burned in incinerators - and it seems that 

90% of the disposable nappy waste is being burned - what is the environmental impact from burning those 

plastics?  Do have any information on that, Martin? 

 

Martin Capstick (Managing Director, North London Waste Authority):  I can give you a separate note 

on that, but basically our incinerator is subject to emission standards and emissions monitoring.  We have to 

make sure that what emerges from there is filtered so that it matches Environment Agency standards. 

 

A little plug: as you may know, we are developing a new energy recovery facility, which we hope to open in five 

or six years’ time, which will have even better performance than our current one, but it is absolutely essential 

Page 25



that the emissions from our energy-from-waste plant, as with all of them, must comply with Environment 

Agency limits.  I can give you a note on what actually comes out of our facility at the moment. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  That would be helpful.  If there was less plastic going through your plant, 

would that make your life easier?  Does that make it easier to run? 

 

Martin Capstick (Managing Director, North London Waste Authority):  That is a very good technical 

question.  I will have to check on that.  It certainly must be the case that on the whole plastic does generate 

more toxins when it is burned.  Effectively, we have very efficient filters and so whether that just makes the 

filters work harder may be one of the impacts which could have a higher energy use there, but we will give you 

the -- 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  It would be useful to understand the cost of that, yes. 

 

Martin Capstick (Managing Director, North London Waste Authority):  Sorry, just for completeness, I 

should also add of course that when we burn we also generate electricity, and so that produces benefits to the 

country and income to us.  That is just to ensure that I give both sides of the coin. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  Sorry, just to come in on that specific point before I move on - and I 

want to ask Alice a few questions - it might have some benefits in needing less downtime for cleaning of 

filters.  Although it does produce energy, burning plastic is a pretty mad way to use a resource that contains a 

lot of embodied energy and also fossil fuels contained within it in the first place.  There surely has to be better 

things to -- 

 

Martin Capstick (Managing Director, North London Waste Authority):  All of those things are true. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  -- feed the incinerator with if we are going to put things into 

incinerators at all. 

 

On reusable products, Alice, we have touched on this quite a lot.  You have waved a few things around and I 

wonder, now that we are doing the webcast and we have talked about this a bit with you already, could you 

give us a bit more information about the range and diversity of the alternatives that are available?  We have 

also touched on the fact that perhaps they are not being made known to people as being available in terms of 

reusable nappies. 

 

Alice Walker (Project Manager, Real Nappies for London):  I guess in the cloth nappy world, there are 

three main types: all-in-ones, flat nappies and also shaped nappies.  Would you like a demo? 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  Yes, if you want to demo them a little bit, as in wave them around.  I 

am not asking you to wear them, obviously! 

 

Alice Walker (Project Manager, Real Nappies for London):  This nappy I have here is a birth-to-potty all-

in-one.  This is a Bambino Mio. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  This would be a nappy that you would purchase and then you would 

use completely from the moment until the child is potty-trained? 

 

Alice Walker (Project Manager, Real Nappies for London):  Yes. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  You might want to have two or three of them, but you would not need 

to change after year nought to 18 months old to purchase another nappy; it would go all the way through? Page 26



 

Alice Walker (Project Manager, Real Nappies for London):  The birth-to-potty will go all the way 

through, yes. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  You would want more than two or three, though. 

 

Alice Walker (Project Manager, Real Nappies for London):  On average, you would be looking at about 

six nappy-changes a day for disposables and so about 5,000 over the 2.5 years that a baby is expected to be in 

nappies.  For cloth nappies, it varies a little bit depending on the age at which you start using reusables 

nappies.  From eight weeks to six months, you might need about 20 reusable nappies in your stash, but that is 

an average and it is normally 18 to 24.  From six months onwards, you would need about 15 nappies.  That 

goes on a cycle where you are washing it say, three times a week. 

 

I guess we can talk about the costs a bit later, but in terms of nappies this is the all-in-one.  You can also have 

them shaped.  They vary as well in materials: cotton, organic cotton, bamboo, hemp, microfibre.  They are the 

types of materials.  Then you have your traditional styles as well.  You can have flat nappies, which traditionally 

were called “terries”.  The idea with pre-folds is that this is held in by a nipper, but you do not always need it.  

A pre-fold you would put out like this. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  That is a completely flat nappy that you then fold up? 

 

Alice Walker (Project Manager, Real Nappies for London):  Yes.  There are three main folds, really.  A 

new-born fold is one I can show, but then after a while you can just fold it and then plonk it in the wrap when 

your baby gets older.  The best thing about the nappies is that they are so versatile.  You can pick up nappies 

for free.  Parents pass on their reusable nappies they no longer need them.  The upfront cost could be 

eliminated completely. 

 

I will just show you, as we are here.  You could just bring it in, plonk your baby on top, bring it down and wrap 

it in.  Sometimes the wrap holds it in place, but you might need a nipper just for that time.  Then wraps vary 

from shape and they adjust by size or they can go up as well from birth to potty. 

 

Yes, they are very versatile.  That did not take too much time to put on. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  You did not wash it. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  You did not wash the baby. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  In real life, you would wash the child, the child would be wriggling, and it would take a lot 

longer. 

 

Alice Walker (Project Manager, Real Nappies for London):  Obviously, do not pick up the baby like I did. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  I do not think the child wriggling or needing to be washed would vary 

as to whether or not you were trying to put a disposable nappy on or a real nappy on.  Those factors would be 

common in both experiences and so I do not think we need to worry too much about that.  The point you are 

trying to make is that it took possibly very slightly longer to do the wrap and put the nipper on and then put 

the outer pant on than it would if you just pulled on a disposable. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  It is good that “Nappy Man” was able to share his experience! 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  We are delighted to hear that Tony has so much experience of  Page 27



baby-changing. 

 

Kate Metcalf (Co-Director, Women’s Environmental Network):  Using the wrap, you do not need to 

wash them.  You can just rinse them and they can be used multiple times.  It is easy. 

 

Alice Walker (Project Manager, Real Nappies for London):  Yes, exactly. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  How long would these ones last?  Would they go on from birth to 

potty-training as well? 

 

Alice Walker (Project Manager, Real Nappies for London):  Yes. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  There are some varieties that might be suitable for smaller children and 

not so suitable for larger children and so then you might need to grade up, but then you might be able to get 

them from somebody else who has stopped using them - obviously washed in between, as Assembly Member 

Arbour seems concerned about that issue - and so you might actually have no upfront cost. 

 

That brings me on to the next point, which you touched on.  What are the financial benefits of the reusable 

nappies?  Obviously, there is the issue of the convenience and the speed with which you can do the change 

versus not needing to go to the supermarket and buy huge selections of nappies. Also, there is the cost of 

those versus those because they are reusable. 

 

Alice Walker (Project Manager, Real Nappies for London):  Yes.  Using cloth nappies you can save 

anywhere between £200 and £1,000 over the two-and-a-half years that a baby is expected to be in nappies. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  That is a not-inconsiderable sum if you have a family.  If you are having 

several children, which is quite a common practice, that could be quite a considerable saving. 

 

Alice Walker (Project Manager, Real Nappies for London):  Yes.  This is estimated by my calculations or 

what I think is the minimum amount that you need.  The upfront costs of cloth nappies range between £100 

and £300.  Then you have to factor in the washing costs as well.  It varies across the board but, in in my mind, 

over a total week for disposables the weekly running cost is anywhere between £6 and £10.  Then, for 

reusables, including the upfront weekly cost included and the washing, it is anywhere from £3 to £5. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  I will just check with Tracy that you are happy with those figures. 

 

Tracy Stewart (Director General, Absorbent and Hygienic Product Manufacturers Association):  No, 

I am not. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  Does £6 to £10 sound about right to you? 

 

Tracy Stewart (Director General, Absorbent and Hygienic Product Manufacturers Association):  Like 

your products, ours range widely in price.  Whereas we go from a few pence to maybe the late teens of pence, 

yours go from a few pounds to - actually, they can be really quite expensive - £20 or more.  We work on a 

figure using the Life Cycle Assessment of a child needing 4,104 nappies in two-and-a-half years.  Taking an 

average price of a disposable nappy - and we have been very fair to sit at 12 pence because you can buy them 

for a few pence or you can buy them for 18 or 20 pence, and we have said 12 pence - that comes out at a total 

spend of £500.  You could economise by using the own-brand or you could use the most expensive, and a lot 

of parents will actually choose maybe a slightly less expensive nappy that they are going to change more 

frequently during the day and choose a different one for the night time.  That does happen.  That is how we 

have worked that out and I think that is a fair calculation. Page 28



 

At the end of the day, it is not for any of us to tell people how to spend their money.  This is about consumer 

choice and I know very well that I would only use what I like best for my baby, and I can understand that.  A lot 

of people would like that the best. 

us. 

 

Tracy Stewart (Director General, Absorbent and Hygienic Product Manufacturers Association):  I am 

just saying it is about consumer choice and it is about people using what they like the best for their baby, and I 

said that I can fully understand that a lot of people would like that the best, but a lot of people prefer the 

convenience of -- 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  We are not quite looking at it only from the consumer choice element 

because this is not the Economy Committee, this is the Environment Committee, which brings me on to the 

other side of the cost.  We have not touched on the fact that rather than washing at home, you can also use a 

nappy-washing service, which is probably more cost-effective and probably uses less water.  From the local 

authority point of view, my understanding is that the disposal of the black-bag waste which the nappies would 

end up in and then go into the incinerator is more expensive for the local authority than perhaps would be to 

run a real nappy service, but you would have to have that investment at the beginning.  Where does that lie in 

terms of that balance for the local authority in terms of the cost involved? 

 

Martin Capstick (Managing Director, North London Waste Authority):  As I said earlier, we spend 

probably about £1 million a year for North London disposing of nappies, roughly speaking.  If everybody in 

North London used reusable nappies, that would be £1 million less of council tax to pay. 

 

What we do offer, working with Alice’s organisation, is a voucher.  Most of our boroughs offer a voucher for 

parents, which currently is £54.12, which is improbably precise, but that is our assessment of what we save if as 

a parent you decide to use reusable nappies.  You can apply for a voucher, which effectively means that the 

money that we would have spent on disposing them, we give to the parents so that they can buy reusable 

nappies. 

 

I would say that there is not overwhelming evidence that there are parents who say, “I was not going to but if 

there is £50 in it, maybe I will”.  That can be one of a number of factors.  I do not think that is a factor in its 

own right.  I agree with Tracy that there is lifestyle choice as well as cost, but then every little helps, as they 

say. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  How many people take the option to take up the voucher?  How many 

participants in your voucher scheme do you think you have now? 

 

Martin Capstick (Managing Director, North London Waste Authority):  At the moment, we have just 

under 1,000 in North London. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  That is good and growing. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  How many boroughs is that spread across? 

 

Martin Capstick (Managing Director, North London Waste Authority):  That is seven boroughs, which 

are Barnet, Camden, Haringey, Hackney, Islington, Enfield and Waltham Forest. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  If you were able to quadruple that - assuming that there are that many 

parents across those seven boroughs, I would imagine very many more - it would then start to reduce your 

£1 million spent on disposal and, potentially, there might be a balance towards it costing you less overall? Page 29



 

Martin Capstick (Managing Director, North London Waste Authority):  Probably, given the scale, if we 

think that £54.12 is our calculation of what we would have spent, if we certainly reduce to some extent our 

costs of disposal and are giving equivalent vouchers to help the parents, then we do not particularly make 

more money out of it, but what we do end up with is a move of costs away from disposal into helping to do 

something more sustainable, which is a public good, really. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  You are saying it is cost-neutral but, environmentally, it is friendlier 

from our environmental perspective? 

 

Martin Capstick (Managing Director, North London Waste Authority):  Yes, that is a much better way 

of putting it. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  We have explored some of the benefits for the parents, then, in terms 

of the finances.  We have just touched on some of the environmental benefits as well.  What factors do you 

think influence people to still choose the disposables?  What do you think can be done to influence people 

away from the disposables?  I am going to ask Alice first and then I am going to bring in Martin and then I am 

going to ask Tracy for her comments on that as well.  I will stick with those three. 

 

Alice Walker (Project Manager, Real Nappies for London):  Brilliant.  Obviously, there is convenience.  

Parents want something easy to put on.  There is accessibility to the items as well.  There is what 

Shaun [Bailey AM] was talking about earlier as well, drying space and the ability to be able to use them. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  Washing and drying, and so potentially the nappy-washing services 

could be quite important there? 

 

Alice Walker (Project Manager, Real Nappies for London):  Exactly, yes, with economies of scale, doing 

it better, definitely.  There is time as well.  Parents are constantly on the move.  That is a factor influencing 

consumer decisions as well.  There is support.  If it is a fairly new thing that they are treading into, they might 

feel that they need a bit of extra help.  That could be support from a partner.  If the carer of the child, like a 

grandparent or a parent, is not really wanting to use cloth nappies, then that might affect, say, a parent’s 

decision or vice versa. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  There is not quite peer pressure, but if you are not surrounded by other 

people who have made the same choice, you feel different and an outlier in some way.  We are going to talk 

about the period products in a minute with some questions from someone else, but I do wonder whether that 

makes people feel that they do not want to do it because they do not know anyone else who is. 

 

Alice Walker (Project Manager, Real Nappies for London):  Sometimes in our surveys we ask, “How many 

other parents do you know who use reusable nappies?”  It is a very small number, like one or two people.  

Parents will use whatever nappies they want to use regardless of what is best.  There are a lot of parents who 

say, “Yes, I will use cloth nappies”, but then some do worry about what others might think.  In general, just 

showing that there is a support network.  Real Nappies for London does that and helps to provide support and 

that is good. 

 

I guess, yes, price is not always a deciding factor for parents.  They are looking at quality and supermarket-own 

brands as well.  I am talking about disposable at the moment.  There is a bit of competition there for you. 

 

Tracy Stewart (Director General, Absorbent and Hygienic Product Manufacturers Association):  It is 

a very big part of the market. 

 Page 30



Alice Walker (Project Manager, Real Nappies for London):  Yes. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  You have not mentioned advertising and that must have pretty much 

of an impact on people.  I do not think I have ever seen an advert for a happy baby crawling across the 

television wearing reusable nappies, or is that just me?  Am I watching the wrong programmes? 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  How would you know? 

 

Alice Walker (Project Manager, Real Nappies for London):  Yes, you are completely right.  In the media, 

it is always disposable nappies.  If you see a picture of a baby on TV or anything, it is probably in -- 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  They have usually paid for the ad. 

 

Alice Walker (Project Manager, Real Nappies for London):  Yes, it is the cost.  Real Nappies for London 

does not have that cost to be doing wide advertising.  I do not know.  I cannot speak on behalf of the 

manufacturers of the cloth nappy industry.  Maybe that is something that they could look into, but it is a 

difficult factor because I guess nappies are multimillions, are they not? 

 

Tracy Stewart (Director General, Absorbent and Hygienic Product Manufacturers Association):  Yes. 

 

Kate Metcalf (Co-Director, Women’s Environmental Network):  It has become normalised in the culture 

that it is disposable, whereas in the past it was the opposite.  It is a question of perceptions and changing 

people’s perceptions around and that there are alternatives. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  That is why we are doing this whole thing around plastic and stopping 

people using single-use plastic water bottles through to people not sticking things down the toilet that are full 

of plastic, etc.  Martin, did you want to come in on anything around choice? 

 

Martin Capstick (Managing Director, North London Waste Authority):  Again, what evidence we have 

from dealing with communities is many of the points Alice made.  It is slightly difficult because I do not want 

to be downbeat.  On the other hand, if we do not acknowledge what the challenges are, we come up with 

solutions which actually do not resonate in the real world. 

 

Amongst the things, in addition to what Alice said, which do have an impact are the fact that people still 

associate the comedy image of putting a fold-up nappy on a new baby, pick it up and the nappy falls off, 

which was a staple of 1970s sitcoms.  That still is an image that people have of it, and the question is how we 

can get people to understand that they are much more user-friendly than they used to be.  It is probably not 

grandparents and great-grandparents who will give that advice, which does come back to how we create more 

of a support network. 

 

I would pick up the point that you made, which is that it is not so much peer pressure but there probably is a 

little bit of that.  If I put my child in real nappies, then I have to stick with it.  I cannot just experiment.  I have 

to be fully committed.  We just need to enable people to feel that they can try these things and it is not that 

you have to succeed no matter how it goes.  Therefore, that causes people to avoid that choice because they 

think that once they have put themselves on that side of the argument, they have to stick to it.  We should 

encourage people to have a go, if we can create the resources to enable people to do that. 

 

One of the more difficult factors is just that when you are having a baby, your life is unbelievably complex.  

You are not just choosing nappies, you are choosing car seats, you are choosing cots, you are choosing 

everything.  In an area where there is a strong norm at the moment, maybe people just go with, “I am already 

Page 31



agonising enough about what design of car seat to go for.  I will not add nappies to the complexity”.  Again, 

just helping people to understand that it is manageable is important. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  In terms of the local authority members of the North London Waste 

Authority, there are seven that participate in the voucher scheme.  In terms of the advertising of that scheme 

and getting people away from the current norm towards doing something else, how easy is it?  I do not live in 

any of those boroughs.  How easy would it be for me to find out details of that on any of those local 

authorities’ websites?  Is it very easy to find?  Is it well signposted?  Would I completely understand what I was 

looking at so that, when I am going through that sort of hugely life-changing moment of moving from not 

having a baby to having a baby and all these amazing new things that I suddenly need to think about, how 

easy are we making it for people to find that from the local authority end? 

 

Martin Capstick (Managing Director, North London Waste Authority):  That is a very good question.  

My recollection is that it is advertised on our Wise Up to Waste website, which is encouraging people to reuse, 

recycle and waste less.  From that point of view -- 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  Would I be looking at if I was pregnant and about to have a baby? 

 

Martin Capstick (Managing Director, North London Waste Authority):  Exactly.  That is the interesting 

question.  The question is: where do families and individuals expecting a baby look? 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Not on a waste website! 

 

Martin Capstick (Managing Director, North London Waste Authority):  That is harder to hit the right 

place.  The answer is to try to cover as many places as possible.  We were talking earlier about whether it is 

accessible through midwives, through visits to the NHS and through maternity clinics.  I would say we probably 

have mixed success in that area.  I would say, probably, as a parent, it would be fair to say that you have to 

look for it.  Hopefully, if you look for it, you can find it, but what you probably will not do is stumble into it 

and say, “That looks interesting”.  That is a fair comment. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  Then I would just say that probably more could be done in that area to 

make sure because, quite often, the website will have a scrolling advert for something on the very front page.  

Does it ever appear there?  Who knows?  Maybe we can make some recommendations, then, about better 

signposting towards this as a service or as an alternative.   

 

Alice Walker (Project Manager, Real Nappies for London):  Is it OK to just add a few things to you?  

That is from a local authority perspective, is it not?  One of the main ways that parents hear about our scheme 

and about cloth nappies is word of mouth.  There is a rise of social media.  I have been working for Real 

Nappies for London for eight years.  We used to code the website and we used to do so much, but now just 

having your mobile phones the internet is easy to have.  It is so accessible that now parents, as soon as they 

hear about a scheme, they are on their phone and are already looking for things.  Bloggers have helped so 

much recently, especially during Real Nappy Week.  That was great.  There are different avenues to explore. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  Did you say “bloggers” or “vloggers”?  I can see that this might be 

something that was really susceptible to doing a video blog on so that people could see how easy it is to put 

the real nappies on. 

 

Alice Walker (Project Manager, Real Nappies for London):  There are vloggers, yes. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  It would help Tony because he has trouble with wriggling babies, 

perhaps not currently. Page 32



 

Alice Walker (Project Manager, Real Nappies for London):  This is actually right and I am really glad that 

you mentioned it because there are mum bloggers and dad bloggers who go out and normalise their cloth 

nappy routine.  Parents can search for it and then find out more support and come to face-to-face events as 

well.  It is really important. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  Certainly we know that when people are doing something for the first 

time, whether that be cooking or changing a baby or anything else, they quite often do go online to look at 

videos to get information these days.  That is a very well-made point. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  Leonie, I am going to be bringing Assembly Member Arnold in on reusable 

period products but, just before we do, just going back to the costs with Martin, you were saying that it costs 

£1 million a year to dispose of disposable nappies.  From the figures you gave, you are giving out about 

£50,000 a year in vouchers for nappies.  That leaves you with £950,000 a year just for the cost of disposing of 

disposable nappies. 

 

Have you thought about running a nappy laundry service?  There is a huge issue with nappy poverty and 

people having to get nappies from food banks.  Have you thought about trying to set up a local authority 

reusable nappy laundry service in order to save your costs over disposal? 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  That sounds like a good idea. 

 

Martin Capstick (Managing Director, North London Waste Authority):  I will comment on that.  I will 

just do a quick bit of arithmetic.  We are spending £1 million disposing of nappies.  In addition, we are giving 

away about -- 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  You are spending, yes, £50,000, sorry, and so it is £1,050,000.  It is an even 

bigger budget for your nappy laundry service. 

 

Martin Capstick (Managing Director, North London Waste Authority):  The vouchers are over and 

above.  It is not something that we as a disposal authority have looked at.  The individual boroughs do the 

waste collection and I know that Camden of our boroughs, for example, offers parents a separate nappy 

collection, which is aimed principally at avoiding the contamination I was describing earlier, which is yet a 

further cost that I have not calculated. 

 

We have not looked hard at what a nappy laundry service would look like.  One of the concerns we would have 

would be how distributed the population who uses real nappies is.  What you want to get is effectively a 

concentration so that you minimise collection and transport costs.  That is one of the main challenges.  

Commercial services have been able to operate in that space as well and I am sure there would be a question as 

to whether we will be impacting on commercial services in that area. 

 

I am not going to say now never, but from that point of view it is not something we have looked at hard, and I 

can just explain a little bit more.  I am sure I can provide a note which just explains a bit more about what the 

nappy laundry market in north London looks like. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  That would be really helpful. 

 

Alice Walker (Project Manager, Real Nappies for London):  I will just add that there are two laundry 

services operating in London.  North London has Nappy Ever After and then there is Number One for Nappies 

as well.  There is really a huge gap in the south of London for laundry services. 

 Page 33



Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  Do those laundry services have a problem with finance?  Could there be more 

discussion going on between the local authorities, who are having to pay so much to dispose of disposable 

nappies, and those? 

 

Alice Walker (Project Manager, Real Nappies for London):  Yes, there is room for discussion, and 

investing into infrastructure that helps use reusable nappies better is really good. 

 

I would just like to go back quickly as well to the scheme.  The Real Nappies for London scheme is not just for 

north London.  It is also for Bexley and Lambeth at the moment.  There are different boroughs happening.  I 

just wanted to add that. 

 

Martin Capstick (Managing Director, North London Waste Authority):  If we are just going to add 

complexity, I would say that not all of our boroughs do vouchers.  Some do direct cash for parents, but, 

anyway, that is -- 

  

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  There is lots of detail. 

 

Martin Capstick (Managing Director, North London Waste Authority):  The broad picture is right. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  My point is: would you actually be making a saving if you did this nappy service?  You 

have missed a trick because, if you are giving this money out, it would probably be better pooled to provide 

the service.  You would get more users and you get more bang for your buck.  Actually, are these not sunk 

costs?  Are you specifically collecting nappies or are they just part of your collecting activity and so you would 

not actually make a saving if the nappies were somewhere else? 

 

Martin Capstick (Managing Director, North London Waste Authority):  That is a good question.  The 

nappies in the main are just part of the general waste, but of course - not to go into too much detail - as for 

those collection costs, maybe your collections would be 10 seconds quicker if you had smaller bags, but that 

that would not make a huge difference.  You would still be putting fewer tonnes of waste into the  

energy-for-waste centre, which would effectively be a cost saving. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  OK, it would be.  I just wanted to understand.  It just strikes me that with terry nappies or 

reusables, the problem is that disposable nappies seem like a technological advance.  That is your challenge.  If 

you use disposables, they feel like the new thing.  They are the smartphone of baby goings-on and you need 

to -- 

 

Alice Walker (Project Manager, Real Nappies for London):  There are people wanting to go back to -- 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  That is the case: you are saying “back”.  If you look at the volume difference, most people 

do not want to go back.  You need to suggest that reusable nappies are a step forward. 

 

Kate Metcalf (Co-Director, Women’s Environmental Network):  They are.  Now a lot of paediatricians 

are coming on board with the social and health benefits because they are finding that because of the 

disposables, children are coming out of nappies at a later age and that is having a lot of social impacts in our 

society.  There are lot of other benefits. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  I fully agree and the Chair wants to move on.  I am just saying that if you want to get this 

moving, you have to have a look at how people operate.  With lots of the things that this Committee deals 

with, people are trying to force behaviour change on the public, forgetting that the alternative is so convenient 

and so well advertised that you need to present this as a beneficial choice, a new thing, rather than just the 

Page 34



environment, because the environment makes sense to us but not to everybody else.   Otherwise, they would 

all be environmentalists. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  Just a follow-up question, before I go on to disposable period products, to 

Martin.  In terms of reaching out with this initiative, I was not sure whether it is a local  

authority-led initiative or whether it is your initiative, and whether or not you were working with an 

organisation like Mumsnet or that wider world about disseminating this information.  It just seemed like it was 

an initiative and it is very passive. 

 

Martin Capstick (Managing Director, North London Waste Authority):  I might describe it as a bit of a 

pyramid.  There is one North London Waste Authority.  We work with the seven boroughs.  The boroughs tend 

to work with the communities.  We have a waste prevention team, which works strategically, and many of the 

boroughs have people who work much closer to the communities, and so we work together.  We work with 

organisations like Alice’s that are enabling people to do the detailed engagement with parents.  In the same 

way, if I look in another area which is not connected with this, but, for example, encouraging people to repair 

rather than throw away equipment, again, we do something through our authority which then works with the 

boroughs and then worked with repair cafés at a local level.  We always try to make sure that we work right to 

the coalface.  It is just that I get only so far under my own authority. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  You are not doing any positive promotion of this incentive. 

 

Martin Capstick (Managing Director, North London Waste Authority):  We are not doing paid 

advertising for it.  That is true. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  That is right.  If you wanted greater take-up that would be something you would 

have to consider? 

 

Alice Walker (Project Manager, Real Nappies for London):  In a way, Real Nappies for London is there to 

do a little bit and take the load off the local authorities and do it through us. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  I am just suggesting that there are more mums in north London with a Mumsnet 

app on their phone that, if you wanted to bring this to their attention, it might be something worthwhile 

doing. 

 

Alice Walker (Project Manager, Real Nappies for London):  I have actually tried, but I need to try harder. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  It is all about trying harder.  Over to you, Mandu, and, Kate, I am sure you will 

want to come in.  Let me start by saying, Mandu, I have been reading about the marvellous work you have 

been doing with The Cup Effect.  Is it a charity? 

 

Mandu Reid (Founder, The Cup Effect):  Absolutely, yes. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  In terms of looking now at the alternatives to disposable period products, your 

major focus is on the use of the cup? 

 

Mandu Reid (Founder, The Cup Effect):  That is the primary focus, absolutely. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  What can you tell us?  When did you start and what has been the response? 

 

Mandu Reid (Founder, The Cup Effect):  Initially, The Cup Effect’s work began in low-income communities 

in Malawi and Kenya.  That is where it began because the scenario of need in those contexts is very different Page 35



here and there are women and girls whose lives are being held back significantly because they do not have 

access to products.  What I realised, though, was, after doing an initial series of projects in both those 

locations, there is an issue on our doorstep and so we have started doing work here in the UK as well. 

 

It is fascinating working in two very different environments, but the reaction, the challenges and the barriers 

have more in common than you might expect, certainly more than I expected when I began doing this work.  

Absolutely, I want to agree with Tracy about consumer choice being a factor, but informed consumer choice is 

the missing piece of the puzzle.  One of the main reasons, whether you are talking about the UK or a slum in 

Kenya, that people do not use menstrual cups is because they have not heard of them and then, when they 

have heard of them, they do not know how to use them or they might be intimidated by them or there might 

be factors related to what you alluded to around stigma, taboo, etc, that create other barriers. 

 

Fundamentally, we do not, in a slum in Malawi or rural community in Kenya or a refugee camp in Malawi, drop 

them out of a helicopter and be done with it.  All of our work is accompanied by information and is 

accompanied by giving people the opportunity to explore what their hesitations may be about using the 

product, to ask the difficult questions and to go through a process of acclimatising and becoming what I call 

“cup confident”. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  Of course there is the environmental impact of the cup.  You are saying it is 

lasting ten years plus -- 

 

Mandu Reid (Founder, The Cup Effect):  Ten years, yes. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  -- as a minimum.  If we focus on the UK for a while, the population you are 

trying to speak to is currently using disposables in the UK? 

 

Mandu Reid (Founder, The Cup Effect):  Primarily, they are using disposables, absolutely. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  It is to get them, then, to get greater awareness of the cup -- 

 

Mandu Reid (Founder, The Cup Effect):  Yes. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  -- and understand the environmental impact.  How do you get those messages 

over? 

 

Mandu Reid (Founder, The Cup Effect):  To be honest, this is one of the challenges when you are a small 

NGO and part of a small NGO community, really trying to tap into existing structures and networks.  My first 

instinct is the schools route.  That is likely to be a very fruitful route for all sorts of reasons. 

 

It really is about demystifying a product like this first of all and so you do need people who have experience 

and confidence to lead those initial discussions.  Forget Tupperware parties; we do “cup aware” parties, where 

we take people through that journey of getting the information that they need. 

 

I would love to scale that up and there are possibilities to scale it up through existing schemes such as the 

Mayor’s Healthy Schools Programme or the London Curriculum, etc, which already have infrastructure in place, 

networks and connections into schools.  What you need is a module that you could tag on to that to ensure 

those girls have the opportunity to make that informed choice. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  That might come in in terms of the impact on the environment and alternatives.  

It comes in that way.  Of course, there are financial benefits of the cup.  You have told us about it, but just 

repeat what the financial benefits are. Page 36



 

Mandu Reid (Founder, The Cup Effect):  Sure.  If you are a woman or a girl who spends about £6.50 a 

month on pads or tampons, if you are using a menstrual cup, apart from the initial outlay, which would be 

about £20 to £25, you will spend zero pounds on menstrual products.  That will equate to about £78 a year.  

Over the 10-year period that you can use your menstrual cup for, you are going to save about £780.  I have 

used mine for nine years.  I have saved about £700.  That is a nice holiday.  That information is not presented 

and is not put out there when people are at the point of making the choice about what to use. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  Do you think that young people appreciate that, really, we lose only about two 

to three teaspoonfuls of blood a day?  The ads would have you believe that you are awash with blood and that 

is why you need all these disposables.  Tracy is going to come in and say they do not, but the reality is that the 

ads have moved away from the actual physiology. 

 

Mandu Reid (Founder, The Cup Effect):  The reality.  I would agree with that.  In my experience of working 

with either teenage girls or grown women in their 30s and 40s, there are a lot of misconceptions around how 

your body works and the function of menstruation.  Clearly, every woman is different, but a menstrual cup has 

measurements on it.  I do not take any notice of those.  I do not have a spreadsheet which tracks how much 

blood I have lost month on month, but one of the unforeseen advantages of using a menstrual cup is the 

familiarity you gain with your own body and the connection.  We take people through a journey where they 

understand those things and also link that to the relationship we all have as consumers with our wider 

environment. 

 

What I find typically is that people are usually like I was when I discovered this for the first time: utterly 

repelled at the idea.  I thought it sounded like worst thing ever and disgusting.  It did not appeal to me to 

begin with.  I find that reaction is typical, but you take people through a journey where they have all the 

information before them and they suddenly become less reticent.  It is an extraordinary transition we are able 

to take people on in the space of an hour’s session in a classroom or three hours in a more informal setting if 

you are at one of my “cup aware” parties.  We need to replicate that. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  Thank you.  I will leave that with the “cup aware” party. 

 

Mandu Reid (Founder, The Cup Effect):  You are very welcome, Jennette. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  It is a great idea.  Kate, tell us about the other types of products.  What do you 

think are the factors that will influence people to move from disposable to reusable? 

 

Kate Metcalf (Co-Director, Women’s Environmental Network):  Also, similar to Mandu, we run 

‘Environmenstrual’ workshops in schools and universities and, yes, I would totally reiterate what Mandu is 

saying.  We would love to scale it up to give that sort of detailed, unbiased information, really, to menstruators. 

 

We talk about all the different options and the pros and cons, environmental and health, of all the different 

options, looking at disposables, disposables using organic cotton and plastic-free, the cup, but also washable 

pads.  I love the cup and I use one myself, but I know it is not for everybody, and so we like to give people 

different choices.  Some people might want to use the cup but mix it with using washable pads.  These are 

some of the options. 

 

A new thing that is quite popular now is reusable period underwear.  We have had a lot of feedback from 

young girls who are finding that these are very suitable for them.  They can wear them all day and not have to 

worry.  There are lots of different innovations coming on. 

 

Page 37



If people are not quite ready to do the full switch to reusables, it is about the best most environmentally 

friendly, disposable options, or maybe they will then use a cup at a later date.  It depends.  If you are, say, in a 

university hall of residence, you might not have a washing machine nearby.  Do you want to use washable 

pads?  It depends on your circumstance as well. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  Of course, the other reusable pads that we know about are the pads that women 

of a different age need in terms of incontinent pads.  Would that come into your product range? 

 

Kate Metcalf (Co-Director, Women’s Environmental Network):  Depending on your flow, you can have a 

thicker absorbency, but, actually, I was thinking that this period underwear could work quite well for the 

incontinence market, maybe not the fully incontinent, but people who have just that stress incontinence and 

perhaps do not feel confident going out.  It is, again, another taboo subject and a huge waste issue, but there 

are some reusable alternatives that people might feel quite comfortable using. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  Why are they not in pharmacies, not in a pound shop? 

 

Kate Metcalf (Co-Director, Women’s Environmental Network):  Most of the companies running these 

are quite small and are running on a shoestring.  They simply do not have those marketing budgets to be in 

with the big products. 

 

We have formed an ‘Environmenstrual’ Coalition of lots of different organisations and companies who care 

about these issues and are wanting people to manage their periods so that they do not harm the planet or their 

own health.  One of our coalition partners is Diva Cup.  They make a menstrual cup.  They are much bigger in 

the United States, where they have a big market.  They said that this year they experienced triple-digit growth 

and it was down to distribution.  They had managed to get in the big pharmacies, like Walmart, and that had a 

significant impact. 

 

That is a key point: once people have access to these products, they are choosing them.  That that is another 

barrier to overcome. 

 

Mandu Reid (Founder, The Cup Effect):  Just to add to that, in 2016 the global menstrual cup market 

value it was around £1.2 billion with a cumulative annual growth rate of 4% and so there is definitely 

movement towards.  That would be between 20 and 30 million menstrual cups globally.  There is movement 

towards greater take-up.  Clearly, the thing that would create that exponential growth is if menstrual cups 

would feature alongside other products with the real “big fish” manufacturers, the likes of Procter & Gamble.  I 

do not know if we are allowed to namecheck individual organisations, sorry, but that is the thing that would 

really create more parity and a playing field where more people were making the choice because they had more 

access. 

 

Kate Metcalf (Co-Director, Women’s Environmental Network):  When we do these ‘Environmenstrual’ 

workshops that is a lot of the feedback we get, “I would love to use these products, but where can you buy 

them?  If I just go into the supermarket, they are not there”.  It is probably the same with nappies as well. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  Yes.  Tracy, I cannot help but tease you.  Are you not blocking a development 

that is just heading towards the way of your customers, and eventually we will see a majority use of reusables? 

 

Tracy Stewart (Director General, Absorbent and Hygienic Product Manufacturers Association):  We 

are absolutely not intending to block anything.  We believe in consumer choice and I am very impressed with 

the sheer passion that these ladies have, actually. 

 

Page 38



The one thing that we would react to is inaccurate information and people being persuaded to switch products 

by using information that maybe made them worried about the safety of a product or the actual impact of a 

product.  That is something that we would have to step forward and address, and I think you would understand 

that. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  What is the advertising budget of your industry? 

 

Tracy Stewart (Director General, Absorbent and Hygienic Product Manufacturers Association):  I 

have no idea. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  I am sure you do, Tracy. 

 

Tracy Stewart (Director General, Absorbent and Hygienic Product Manufacturers Association):  No, 

I actually do not and I am sorry and I will see if I can come back to you. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  I am surprised that you do not. 

 

Tracy Stewart (Director General, Absorbent and Hygienic Product Manufacturers Association):  I 

really do not, but I do know that it is very large.  I will come back to you, if I can, with some numbers.  I am 

sorry. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  It is too big. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  Quite a lot. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  Just since we have been talking about reusable period products, I just wanted 

to pick up on period poverty.  There are a lot of people who are using food banks and needing to access period 

products as well as disposable nappies from food banks.  With moon cups, you have to get used to it.  You 

have to get used to it as an idea and probably, if you are living in poverty and dependent on food banks, there 

is probably quite a lot going on in your life and so being able to take on something like that is potentially more 

difficult. 

 

On the relationship between these reusable products and period poverty, either Mandu or Kate, have you been 

doing any work around period poverty specifically with these reusable products? 

 

Mandu Reid (Founder, The Cup Effect):  Yes, but treading very carefully, actually, and treading very 

carefully very deliberately because the last thing we really want to do is to create an association between 

reusable products and people who are having a rough time with respect to poverty.  Again, the whole message 

around informed choice is absolutely mission-critical to any work we do, whether it is with people living in 

poverty or people who are more affluent. 

 

What we have found is that people do respond quite warmly to the fact that you do not spend any money if 

you use a menstrual cup or one of the other reusable alternatives, and they also like the fact that they are less 

dependent on somebody else’s goodwill or the ability to get free products from somewhere else.  The whole 

psychology around making the choice is different when you are in difficult circumstances. 

 

We are really careful about making sure that people have the information that they need and have the support 

they need, but also have the alternative of using a disposable product as well when we introduce this.  I would 

not want to go down the route of saying, “All right.  You folks living in period poverty or experiencing period 

poverty, these are best for you because of the sustainability angle”, when, actually, not everybody wants to 

insert the product and you have to do that with a menstrual cup.  Not everybody is totally relaxed about the Page 39



idea of having to wash it and figure out how to make it work.  We do not want women or anyone else who 

menstruates to be in a situation where they have less choice and reusables are being imposed on them.  The 

social justice angle is just as important. 

 

One last thing I will say because we are here in the Environment Committee is that I was surprised when I 

started doing this work elsewhere - and I know that is not directly relevant to London - that the environmental 

issue and the issue of disposal was a big concern for women living in circumstances of poverty elsewhere.  

Therefore, it does not wash that just because somebody is struggling financially that they do not care about 

the environmental impact of the choices that they are making.  We make sure they have that information and it 

is often persuasive. 

 

Kate Metcalf (Co-Director, Women’s Environmental Network):  I completely share what Mandu is 

saying.  When we have done workshops even in universities where students are sometimes struggling 

financially, not that that is extreme poverty, but they are very happy to find out about these alternative 

products and that they can save money because they are on very tight budgets. 

 

Yes, we definitely would not want to make people feel guilty or anything, but giving them their choice, or they 

might at another stage in their life perhaps then choose to opt for that as well.  Bloody Good Period, which is 

working a lot on period poverty, is another coalition member of our ‘Environmenstrual’ Coalition and The Cup 

Effect and so, yes, we definitely take all of those factors into consideration. 

 

Mandu Reid (Founder, The Cup Effect):  The key thing is that the reusables should be considered and 

should be part of any strategy to address period poverty and to address the environmental impact of 

menstruation.  The fact that they have been neglected has resulted in us perhaps making slower progress in 

challenging these issues than we might have done otherwise.  It is absolutely 100% mission-critical that they 

are in the mix and considered alongside all the other things that are more commonly thought of and - let us 

face it - are better understood. 

 

Tracy Stewart (Director General, Absorbent and Hygienic Product Manufacturers Association):  I 

wish I thought had about it before I came, but, as you know, I have a passionate interest in continence care, 

promoting continence care services and getting people assessed and effectively out of pads.  I am aware that 

the producers of absorbent continence products do have a range of washable products as well.  I will look into 

finding out how that works, how much of that goes into the NHS and what choices are provided for people, 

too. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  That would be really helpful, thank you, if you could send that through 

afterwards.  That is excellent. 

 

I am going to move on to looking at how we can reduce the impact of these single-use products.  Tracy, what 

could the producers change to encourage users to dispose of products correctly?  Is there anything further that 

the producers and retailers could do to reduce the impact of nappies, incontinence and period products? 

 

Tracy Stewart (Director General, Absorbent and Hygienic Product Manufacturers Association):  

There is still a great deal to be done around education.  We can certainly do better than we are doing on 

labelling and making that more prominent.  Retailers in particular are very good at acting very quickly on these 

sorts of things.  They tend to be quite agile and certainly a couple of the main retailers have been very good at 

picking up the guidelines and applying it to other products as well. 

 

One of the other things that I am very keen to raise, not just here but also in the all-party group that I am 

secretariat to on continence, is the fact that it has come to light recently that there is only a requirement or a 

stipulation in employment law for women to have disposal bins in the workplace toilet.  There is no stipulation Page 40



for a bin in any other toilet and there is nothing whatsoever for men’s washrooms.  There are a significant 

proportion of men in the community who go to work and who do all the things that we all do every day - and 

why should anybody stop - but who are inhibited by the fact that they are limited in terms of disposing of 

products.  That is something that I very much wanted to raise here today and, also, I will be putting it on the 

agenda with the permission of the chairs of the all-party group. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  There should be bins in men’s toilets as well as women’s toilets so that 

incontinence products can be disposed of properly. 

 

Tracy Stewart (Director General, Absorbent and Hygienic Product Manufacturers Association):  Yes, 

there should. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  Do you think some of them are being flushed, then. 

 

Tracy Stewart (Director General, Absorbent and Hygienic Product Manufacturers Association):  

Either that or they are having to be carried home.  That is really quite unpleasant and it is quite unfair as well.  

I have been sent recently by one of my clinical colleagues a document that estimates that between ages of 60 

and 64 around 11% of men will have some form of urinary incontinence.  It may be as a result of diabetes, 

prostate cancer, obesity, stroke, any of those things.  It may be temporary or may be permanent.  A huge 

number will report urinary incontinence less frequently.  Boys need bins. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  Very good.  Boys need bins, yes. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  Yes.  We should start here. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  This whole session has been full of recommendations just falling into our laps.  

“Boys need bins”.  We even have a slogan. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  We should start at City Hall. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  We should, indeed.  Yes, education, labelling, bins.  Anything else? 

 

Tracy Stewart (Director General, Absorbent and Hygienic Product Manufacturers Association):  In 

terms of reducing wrongful disposal, those are the key starting points, but it is also about working with other 

groups and other influencers - and I would say the same to you all as well in terms of getting your messages 

across - looking at trusted third parties, people who have a voice.  We are talking about the NCT here and 

those sorts of groups that already are trusted and people listen to they sign up to their websites, sign up to 

their newsletters and so on.  Those are all areas - maybe even Women’s Institutes and groups like that - in 

terms of getting messages across and into the public domain, and making this something that can be spoken 

about, taking the taboo off it and making us all realise it is all of our problem and we all need to address it and 

talk about it. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  My question really is a complete patsy, which is: what can the Mayor do to help?  We 

already have one, saying that we should have disposable bins here at City Hall, which we could do straight 

away.  The general question is: what do you think the Mayor could do?  Let me ask Martin the question.  You 

are the one closest to the public sector. 

 

Martin Capstick (Managing Director, North London Waste Authority):  There are a number of areas of 

action and, to repeat my answer to Assembly Member Arnold, it is about building the supporting coalition, 

really, and in terms of encouraging use of reusable products, basically, then helping to create the right 

networks, whether that is working through the NHS or also working with boroughs to help parents networks Page 41



focus on things like real nappies.  Generally, the Mayor has a large influence and just helping to create that 

level of dialogue and demystification is helpful. 

 

Picking up Tracy’s last point, in terms of avoiding at least people contaminating recycling products and helping 

people to understand the proper disposal route, is important.  The Mayor should not bear that as a personal 

responsibility, but, again, it is encouraging us to have the coalition and probably also to engage with retailers 

to help us achieve that right. 

 

We then come on to incentives for creating the right products and, on that, there is an argument for greater 

producer responsibility.  Again, I am not sure that the Mayor can unilaterally drive that, but certainly working 

with the Government that is an important area.  We saw, for example, this weekend there was some talk about 

the introduction of an incineration tax, the logic being that that might discourage incineration.  My take in 

relation to things like disposable nappies will be that if you had an incineration tax, it would have absolutely no 

impact whatsoever on the manufacturers; it would simply be a cost on council taxpayers, who would then have 

a more expensive disposal method.  If the Government was thinking about how to create the right financial 

incentives, it seems to me that the challenge is to create the right financial incentives that help manufacturers 

particularly to think about how they use more recycled products in their nappies.  Again, I am not an expert to 

know, but if nappies use a lot of virgin plastic, what is the option for manufacturing them with a lower impact?  

That is an area which we have not particularly discussed today but it is an area where the Mayor with his 

broader reach can have that sort of impact. 

 

Those would be the areas that I would particularly pick out as areas where somebody with his influence can 

help to move the debate. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  Thank you for that.  Does anybody else have any suggestions for what the Mayor could 

do?  It strikes me that the publicity that you may get as a result of this meeting - which I have to say has lifted 

veils which I never knew existed, as far as I am concerned - may be quite helpful.  Yes, let us go around from 

left to right.  Mandu? 

 

Mandu Reid (Founder, The Cup Effect):  It is the classic stuff of leading by example.  Bins for boys in City 

Hall is great, but there is also Transport for London, which has a much bigger workforce.  Use the whole 

mayoral group to set an example to other employers. That is straightforward. 

 

Another thing I would say is that I do not know if you guys realised you were doing it and I do not know if it 

was deliberate or not, but the thing is modelling really good behaviour.  I noticed that every time you spoke 

today, you were talking about “menstrual products” and “period products”.  You were not talking about 

“hygiene items” or “sanitary products”, which is the terminology that is typically used.  That language 

reinforces a lot of the stigma around menstruation.  It gives the sensation that it is something dirty and 

disgusting that needs to be cleaned up with bleach, but you guys all talked about “menstrual products” and 

“period products”.  I do not know who coached you in that.  Well done, Caroline. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  I keep a strict eye on the language. 

 

Mandu Reid (Founder, The Cup Effect):  That is amazing.  It may not seem like much, but it is a big deal.  

Modelling that good behaviour as and when we talk about this is another important step. 

 

I have already suggested some potential avenues to pilot initiatives in schools using existing mayoral schemes.  

Why not have a module on menstruation and the products available in the London Curriculum and give schools 

the option of taking it up and see what the take-up is and see what the response is?  Why not have something 

that you funnel through the Healthy Schools network in a similar vein?  That stuff creates a blueprint for 

others to act and is actually not that difficult to do.  You just need the right people with the right expertise.  I Page 42



know the will is out there.  I know that schools would like to do better but need somebody to give them a leg 

up.  London would be really leading the way if it took an action like that with respect to schools. 

 

The last thing is that I hope this is the beginning of further conversations.  Having Tracy here is so important.  

We need to have industry in the room.  We need to have industry in the loop.  At the end of the day - and I 

know Tracy was coy about the advertising budgets and whatever else that your group has; I am teasing you as 

well - but those folks are incredibly influential when it comes to trying to make a step change.  Keeping them 

part of the conversation is for me something that is an essential way to make sure we get a real enduring 

change in people’s attitudes, change in people’s ideas and then ultimately change in their behaviour. 

 

Alice Walker (Project Manager, Real Nappies for London):  I am not sure how to follow that up.  That 

was really inspiring. 

 

I guess I have a few points to add to what Martin was saying about just helping to normalise reusable nappies.  

Every year in April we do a Real Nappy Week and so maybe some support for that would be greatly 

appreciated. 

 

Providing that support infrastructure for laundry services could be one, and also supporting real nappy 

entrepreneurs, like parents.  There is especially a rise in women who are designing nappies.  You might have 

seen on Dragon’s Den a few months ago there was a cloth nappy entrepreneur.  Yes, just support those small 

community organisations that are going face-to-face to parents and providing that outreach. 

 

There is a Greater London Authority (GLA) family grant that I do not know if you are aware of at the moment 

to help families connect with neighbours and communities a lot more, which is great. 

 

I am quite fascinated by a potential link between our project, Real Nappies for London to reduce disposable 

nappy waste, and wet wipes because there are reusable wet wipes out there as well.  There is huge potential. 

 

Kate Metcalf (Co-Director, Women’s Environmental Network):  I am going to carry on with the “bins for 

boys” theme.  This is a practical thing, but having sinks inside public toilets would make it easier for people to 

use menstrual cups because that is another barrier.  People do not want to walk out and then empty it.  Having 

a sink there, if you are having any new builds, might be something quite simple. 

 

I support Mandu’s point that we want unbiased period education throughout schools in London and 

universities, but a lot of the people running these are doing things on a shoestring and so supporting those 

organisations that are trying to bring this unbiased education would be great. 

 

I would like to see full disclosure of ingredients on these disposable products so that consumers can make an 

informed choice about which products to buy.  I do not know if there is any role where you could lobby 

manufacturers to say that this move to transparency would benefit everybody.  Help to lobby companies to 

remove the plastics in their products and to use organic cotton because the bleaching methods used for these 

menstrual products are very harmful to the environment as well 

 

We have touched on it throughout the whole meeting about the advertising budget and so I do not know if it 

is possible to have a whole London-wide advertising campaign about “bag it and bin it” but also about 

reusable alternatives, like on the Tube, making it really attractive, with “Supported by the Mayor of London” or 

something. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  What a great idea. 

 

Page 43



Kate Metcalf (Co-Director, Women’s Environmental Network):  I would encourage all the London 

boroughs or the Mayor -- we have this ‘Environmenstrual’ Coalition and all the coalition members will be 

coming together for an ‘Environmenstrual’ Week of Action in October [2018].  We would really welcome 

different partners, really, from local authorities supporting this as well.  The more people who get on board, 

the greater impact we will have.  We are having at the end of the Week of Action a big ‘Environmenstrual’ 

Women’s Environmental Network Forum event here at the GLA and so, hopefully, that will attract publicity 

from other boroughs. 

 

Tracy Stewart (Director General, Absorbent and Hygienic Product Manufacturers Association):  

Thank you and thank you for inviting me here as well.  I am really pleased that the “bins for boys” idea went 

down very well.  I have to say I did just think of that title while I was sitting here and it just rolled out. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  We will have to invite you to the unveiling of the first bin. 

 

Tracy Stewart (Director General, Absorbent and Hygienic Product Manufacturers Association):  

While we are on the subject, shelves are very useful in toilets as well for people who are changing ostomy 

equipment and so on. 

 

We have quite a bit of commonality here.  We are coming from completely different sides of the fence, but 

there are things that we agree on.  Maybe we should look at those topics like disposing of products correctly 

and encouraging good disposal practices.  Maybe there is something that could be quite powerful - and you as 

well - that we could do.  We are working with the water groups on that as I speak. 

 

The disposable badge we cannot say is going to cure everything, but it is a jolly good step forward.  How can 

we make that really desirable?  How can we make companies want to put it on their products?  They have their 

lovely packaging.  How can we make them think, “I have to have that on there”?  How can we make consumers 

say, “That is a responsible company.  I want to buy that product because they are doing the right thing”?  A bit 

like a Soil Association accreditation.  That is an idea that I would like to have maybe a roundtable on.  Who 

could we get to maybe say, “That company has shown excellence in its packaging and disposal instructions.  

We are going to give it a star”, or something along that line? 

 

I am also looking at things that I am involved with outside of the obvious.  As an industry head, I belong to 

various groups and forums and committees and procurement boards looking at tendering and procurement and 

looking at other things that could be levers; auditing standards, for example, for consumer products and 

manufacturers.  I am just trying to think outside the box a little bit. 

 

I am taking the discussion in fact just this afternoon to one such organisation and so it is on the agenda 

because cogs can move quite slowly but they can be made to move a bit faster, too, by just making sure that 

there is a bigger discussion around this as well. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  Thank you very much.  Thank you, Chair. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  That was an incredibly inspiring conversation.  It was very good to pull all of 

those threads together at the end. 

 

I have just one final tiny thing to just pick up with you, Alice.  Your Real Nappy Network voucher scheme does 

not work in all boroughs.  Is that right?  If you were redoing your list for the Mayor, would you like him to be 

encouraging all boroughs to do a real nappy voucher scheme?  Do you think that would be a helpful thing? 

 

Alice Walker (Project Manager, Real Nappies for London):  Thank you so much, Caroline, for mentioning 

it because it is actually at the top of my list here and I did not even mention it.  A pan-London scheme would Page 44



be amazing and getting all the local authorities on board and having consistent messaging would just be 

awesome.  That just helps, really.  It is a pan-London scheme and normalising.  Thank you, Caroline, and thank 

you for the opportunity as well. 

 

Kate Metcalf (Co-Director, Women’s Environmental Network):  Can I just say?  Because of the success 

of Real Nappies for London, it made me think.  Could we have something similar for reusable menstrual 

products, like a voucher off if it is initially quite expensive, subsidised by the local authorities, with advice for 

people to try menstrual products?  Real Nappies for London has been such a success. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM (Deputy Chair):  I cannot quite see how you could ask local authorities to subsidise that, 

but we need more messaging from Thames Water and Affinity, which are the two water providers for London, 

given that they spent £12 million per annum on removing “rag”, as they call it, which is the combination of all 

of these items.  I understand what Tracy was saying and that the percentage of rag that relates to menstrual 

products is smaller than the level that is baby wipes, but baby wipes do relate to activities that people are 

undertaking when they are doing changing of nappies.  Maybe that is something that we can take back to 

Thames Water and potentially Affinity to see if they might be interested as they ramp up their messaging to try 

to stop people putting unflushables into the loo.  They also might wish to think about this as something that 

they could consider putting some money into.  I cannot quite see how local authorities would do that. 

 

Caroline Russell AM (Chair):  The idea of help for reusable period products is a great idea.  In that case, I 

thank all of you for your contributions and the Committee Members for joining in with such enthusiasm. 

 

 

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 46



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Summary List of Actions 
 

Report to: Environment Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 14 June 2018 

 
This report will be considered in public. 

 
 
1. Summary  

 
1.1 This report sets out details of completed and ongoing actions arising from previous meetings of the 

Environment Committee. 

 
 
2. Recommendation 
 

2.1 That the Committee notes the completed and outstanding actions arising from its 

previous meetings. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 47

Agenda Item 4



        

Actions Arising from the Meeting on 23 May 2018 

Minute 

Number 

Topic Status For action by 

9. 

 

Plastics - Nappies and Period Products 

During the course of the discussion members requested 

the following: 

 Further clarity on how reusable nappies are 40% 

better for the environment, including whether there is 

a clear comparison with disposable nappies; 

 Further information on when the plastics in disposable 

products are burned in incinerators what is the 

environmental impact from burning those plastics, 

whether if there was less plastic going through energy 

from waste plants would they run more efficiently and 

what the reusable nappy laundry market in north 

London looks like; and 

 What the advertising budget is for Absorbent and 

Hygienic Product Manufacturers Association’s 

products. 

During the course of the discussion the Chair agreed to 

write to the Royal College of Midwives to find out what 

education they currently provide on cloth nappy 

innovations 

The Committee delegated authority to the Chair, in 

consultation with party Lead Group Members, to agree 

any output arising from the discussion.  

 

 

 

 

Ongoing. 

 

 

 

 

Real Nappies for 

London 

 

North London 

Waste Authority 

 

 

 

 

 

Absorbent Hygiene 

Products 

Manufacturers 

Association 

 

Scrutiny Manager  

 

 

Scrutiny Manager 

 

 

Actions Arising from the Meeting on 15 March 2018 

Minute 

Number 

Topic Status  

4. Mid-term Review 

During the course of the discussion, members requested 

the following information: 

 Details about the decentralised energy from waste 

heat projects that the Mayor was supporting, once 

those projects were in contract; and 

 A pan-London aircraft noise map once it is available.  

The Committee delegated authority to the Chair, in 

consultation with party Group Lead Members to agree 

any outputs arising from the discussion. 

Ongoing 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ongoing 

Deputy Mayor for 

Environment and 

Energy 

 

 

 

 

 

Scrutiny Manager 

5. Plastics 

The Committee delegated authority to the Chair, in 

consultation with party Group Lead Members to agree 

any outputs arising from the discussion. 

Ongoing Scrutiny Manager 

Page 48



        

Actions Arising from the Meeting on 21 February 2018 

Minute 

Number 

Topic Status  

5. 

 

Water Issues 

During the course of the discussion, Members requested 

the following additional information:  

 A list by boroughs of blockages of fats, oils and 

greases in London; 

 Thames Water’s estimate of London’s current 

population and the process used to generate the 

figure; and 

 Further information on the assessed household 

charge offered by Thames Water for residents that 

are unable to have a water meter fit in their 

property. 

 

 

 

 

Ongoing – 

Requests 

sent on  

6 March 

2018 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Director of 

External Affairs and 

Sustainability, 

Thames Water to 

provide 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Actions Arising from the Meeting on 17 January 2018 

Minute 

Number 

Topic Status For action by 

5. 

 

Electric Vehicle Charging  

That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation 

with party Group Members, to agree any output arising 

from the discussion.  

Completed – 

Attached at 

Agenda 

Item 5. 

 

Scrutiny Manager  

 

6. Draft London Plan 

During the course of the discussion, Members requested 

the following additional information:  

 A map of London to show where people are more 

than 800 metres away from a town centre; 

 The relationship between the biodiversity action 

plans, the supplementary planning guidance and the 

overall strategy in the London Plan; and 

 Further details on whether Sections 2.18(C) and 

1.18(D) of the old London Plan are fully covered and 

protected by new policy areas: G6(B)(2), G3(C) and 

G4(B) of the London Plan. 

Ongoing Deputy Mayor for 

Planning, 

Regeneration and 

Skills 

 
 
3. Legal Implications 
 

3.1   The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 
 
 

Page 49



        

4. Financial Implications 
 
4.1 There are no financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:   

None. 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer: Clare Bryant, Committee Officer 

Telephone: 020 7983 4616 

Email: clare.bryant@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 50



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Action Taken Under Delegated 
Authority  

Report to: Environment Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 
 

Date: 14 June 2018 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 
 
 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 This report outlines recent actions taken by the Chair under delegated authority, in consultation with 

the Deputy Chair, in accordance with the delegations granted to her by the Environment Committee.  

 

 

2. Recommendations  

 

2.1 That the Committee notes the recent action taken by the Chair of the Committee under 

delegated authority, in consultation with the party Group Lead Members, namely to agree 

the Committee’s report Electric Vehicles in London. 
 
 

3. Background  

 

3.1 At its meeting on 17 January 2018, the Committee resolved: 

 

That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with Party Group Members, to agree any 

output arising from the discussion. 

 
4. Issues for Consideration 

 

 Electric Vehicles in London 

4.1 The Committee’s report, Electric Vehicles in London, can be accessed here 

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/electric-

vehicles-london-0. 

 

4.2 The report contained the following recommendations: 

 The Mayor should develop his pan-London approach to EV parking as a priority for 2020, 

and in the short-term to encourage the rapid switch from petrol and diesel to electric, he 

should encourage boroughs to provide free or discounted EV parking; 

 The Mayor should use his public profile to spread the idea that charging need not be a 

barrier to owning an electric vehicle, where owning a vehicle is necessary; 

Page 51

Agenda Item 5

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/electric-vehicles-london-0
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/electric-vehicles-london-0
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/electric-vehicles-london-0


        

 

 

 Transport for London should map private sector offers of charging point installation, 

provide support where boroughs have capacity issues, and offer direct funding in areas 

where private sector investment is not happening quickly enough; 

 The Mayor should encourage TfL and boroughs to install charging points between parking 
spaces, and not obstruct pavements; 

 The Mayor should ensure the establishment and financing of a pan-London EV 

infrastructure delivery partnership as a matter of urgency; 

 The Mayor should lobby OLEV for state aid exemption for car clubs; 

 The Mayor should set a new minimum target for the percentage of EVs in London’s car 
clubs, and set out what steps he will take to make it a reality; and 

 The Mayor should project the charging demand implied by his plans for EV transition, and 

ensure that London is prepared to meet this, not just in the number and distribution of 
charging points, but in the smart technology of those points and the underlying electricity 
infrastructure. 

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 
5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1  There are no financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 

 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:  
Appendix 1 - Electric Vehicles in London 
 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers:  

Member Delegated Authority Forms: 897 

 

Contact Officer: Clare Bryant, Committee Officer 

Telephone: 020 7983 4616 

Email: clare.bryant@london.gov.uk  

  

Page 52

mailto:clare.bryant@london.gov.uk


 

 
London Assembly Environment Committee I 1  

Environment Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Electric vehicles May 2018 

Key findings 

• The number of electric vehicles in London is booming and 
charging points are trying to catch up. 

• Londoners who have driveways or garages are more likely 
to own an electric vehicle. 

• 60 per cent of Londoners don’t have a garage or driveway 
and would rely on chargers on street if they wanted to 
charge an electric vehicle. 

• On-street chargers are not being installed quickly enough. 
Available borough funding for charging points is heavily 
over-subscribed.  

• There is scope for electric vehicle infrastructure and 
delivery to be much more joined-up across London. 

• Car clubs represent an opportunity to switch from petrol 
or diesel to electric vehicles to reduce roadside emissions. 

• Electric vehicles, although preferable to petrol or diesel, 
still damage our health, present road danger and cause 
congestion. Steps to encourage electric vehicle use must 
consider a future London where cars, both fossil fuel and 
electric, are less prevalent. 

 

 

We welcome your thoughts and comments on how we can make the 
switch from petrol and diesel vehicles to EVs in London and get it right for 
the future. You can get in touch with us at 
EnvironmentCommittee@london.gov.uk 

P
age 53

mailto:xxxxxxxx@london.gov.uk
Cbryant
Inserted Text

Cbryant_1
Typewritten Text
Appendix 1



 

 
London Assembly Environment Committee I 2  

Environment Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Electric vehicles May 2018 

This committee recognises that electric vehicles are still motorised 
vehicles, and still contribute to congestion, road danger and 
pollution. We are encouraging the switch from petrol and diesel 
vehicles to electric vehicles, but only where vehicular journeys are 
necessary. We fully support the Mayor in his drive for Healthy 
Streets, where most journeys are made by public transport, bicycle 
or on foot.  

Electric vehicles are booming in London and charging points are 
trying to catch up

 

The number of EVs in London has grown significantly in the last five 
years. There are now almost 12,000 electric vehicles registered in 
London, over ten times as many as in 2012. 

Reference: Department for Transport, Vehicle licensing statistics July to September 2017, table 
VEH0131 

The growth in EV numbers is outstripping the supply of charging 

points, and this may start to limit vehicle uptake. According to Zap-

Map, the TfL-recommended charging point database, the number of 

charging points in London grew from an average of 1,586 in 2017 to 
1,869 in 2018 – an increase of 17 per cent.1 According to DfT data 
released so far (from December 2016 to September 2017), the number 
of electric vehicles in London increased by 50 per cent in 2017.2 

The Mayor has taken steps to try and address this. The Mayor has 
committed £4.5 million of funding from the Office for Low Emission 
Vehicles (OLEV) to install 1,500 standard charging points across London,3 

as well as £18 million of TfL capital investment towards a rapid charging 
network.4 Much of the rapid charging network will be reserved for black 
cabs – currently 62 per cent of all rapid chargers are black cab only.5  

The number of charging points may not be as important as their 
location. We heard that the spread, location and accessibility of 
charging points, relative to user demands, is more important than the 
number. Oslo, for example, a city seen as an EV trailblazer, has almost 
exactly the same charger to vehicle ratio as London.6 TfL has conducted 

a lot of research already about where charging points are most 
necessary.7 

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

D
ec

 2
0

1
1

M
ar

 2
0

1
2

Ju
n

 2
0

1
2

Se
p

 2
0

1
2

D
ec

 2
0

1
2

M
ar

 2
0

1
3

Ju
n

 2
0

1
3

Se
p

 2
0

1
3

D
ec

 2
0

1
3

M
ar

 2
0

1
4

Ju
n

 2
0

1
4

Se
p

 2
0

1
4

D
ec

 2
0

1
4

M
ar

 2
0

1
5

Ju
n

 2
0

1
5

Se
p

 2
0

1
5

D
ec

 2
0

1
5

M
ar

 2
0

1
6

Ju
n

 2
0

1
6

Se
p

 2
0

1
6

D
ec

 2
0

1
6

M
ar

 2
0

1
7

Ju
n

 2
0

1
7

Se
p

 2
0

1
7Li

ce
n

se
d

 c
ar

s,
 v

an
s 

an
d

 q
u

ad
ri

cy
cl

es
 in

 
Lo

n
d

o
n

P
age 54

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/vehicle-licensing-statistics-july-to-september-2017


 

 
London Assembly Environment Committee I 3  

Environment Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Electric vehicles May 2018 

Charging off-street 
 

Londoners with access to off-street parking have often been the early 
adopters of electric vehicles. Having a driveway or garage means that 
you have a guaranteed place to park and charge your vehicle, as well as 
the ability to charge overnight. This has skewed EV ownership to 
traditionally more affluent parts of society, leaving the less wealthy to 
pay more in fuel costs and Vehicle Excise Duty.  

The Government subsidises off-street installation of charging points. 
You can get a grant of up to 75 per cent of the cost of your charging 
point, up to a maximum saving of £500.8 There is a national list of 
approved installers and the GLA is working towards a network of 
approved suppliers of home charging points. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

Charging on-street 
 

Encouraging EV use by Londoners without a driveway or garage is the 
biggest challenge. Around 60 per cent of London households do not 
have off-street parking. Not all of these households currently have a 
vehicle; only a third of Londoners own a vehicle and most rely on other 
transport methods. However, if any of these households did want to 
own an electric vehicle, they would have to rely on chargers on street. 
Giving these people the confidence to buy an EV and know that they will 

have somewhere to charge it is crucial.  

Parking issues are very important to EV take up. The London Plan, 
currently in consultation, stipulates that twenty per cent of all new 
parking spaces created in London must have a charging point attached. 
Parking in existing spaces is currently a mixed bag. Some electric vehicle 
parking spots are free from parking charges, but not all are. 
Westminster Council, for example, offers free resident parking permits 

for EVs, and heavily discounted pay and display parking.9 Neighbouring 
Kensington and Chelsea offers reduced resident permits but charges for 
pay and display.10 The Mayor’s Environment Strategy says that the 
Mayor will develop a pan-London approach to parking charges for EVs 
by 2020.11 We hope that this will mean pan-London free, or discounted, 
parking for EVs.12 We recognise that parking charges are a significant 
income stream for boroughs. As the number of EVs in London grows, 
free parking will become more and more of a burden to councils. As part 

of this pan-London approach, we think that TfL should consider 

“We know that where Londoners do 

have EVs, they tend to be those people 
who have off-street parking” 

 
Lilli Matson, Director of Transport 

Strategy, TfL 

P
age 55



 

 
London Assembly Environment Committee I 4  

Environment Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Electric vehicles May 2018 

subsidising boroughs to provide free or discounted parking on a 

transitional basis. 

Recommendation: The Mayor should develop his pan-London 
approach to EV parking as a priority for 2020, and in the short-term to 
encourage the rapid switch from petrol and diesel to electric, he 
should encourage boroughs to provide free or discounted EV parking.13 

Concerns about charging remain deep-rooted. Worries about 
recharging and distance travelled on a single charge consistently top 

people’s worries about buying an electric vehicle.14 This perception is 
persistent. In 2016, 39 per cent of those surveyed by the Department 
for Transport cited battery range as a worry. In 2014, it was also 39 per 
cent.  

Most journeys in London can be done by bicycle, public transport or on 
foot, but those that still need to be done as a car are perfect for an 
electric vehicle. Two thirds of car journeys in London are under 5km.15 
The most popular electric vehicle in the UK can sustain 53km of pure 
electric driving.16 It is extremely rare that a journey in London would 
fully drain an EV’s battery, and most EV users even without off-street 
parking would only need to use a charging point after several trips or in 
preparation for a longer journey. 

Recommendation: The Mayor should use his public profile to spread 
the idea that charging need not be a barrier to owning an electric 
vehicle, where owning a vehicle is necessary.  

We recognise that the situation is different for working vehicles, such 
as taxis. Vehicles such as taxis or trade vans follow a very different 
driving pattern to the average car in London, cover a lot more distance 
and may need to charge up quickly to get back to work. We welcome 
the Mayor’s initiatives such as the installation of rapid chargers 
specifically for taxis,17 or the trial of a 25-strong fleet of electric delivery 
vans, although we would urge the Mayor to deliver more rapid charging 
points than currently proposed.18    

Anyone can apply to their local council for a charging point on their 

street, but the available funding pot is heavily oversubscribed. The 
Office for Low Emission Vehicles 
(OLEV) has allocated £2.5 million of 
funding nationally for installation 
costs. An individual would apply to 
their local council to consider a 
charging point and the council 

decides whether to apply to OLEV 
for funding.  London Councils have 
told us that in the very first round 
this grant was already 50 per cent 
oversubscribed – i.e. applications 
from councils have already used up 
all of this funding.  

Councils do not have to rely on OLEV funding to install charging points. 

Some providers in the industry will install charging points for free, such 

“On-street parking is the real 
challenge […] it is about 

having sufficient saturation in 
an area that residents have 
the confidence to be able to 

charge when they need to” 
 

Oliver Lord, GLA Air Quality  

P
age 56



 

 
London Assembly Environment Committee I 5  

Environment Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Electric vehicles May 2018 

as BluePoint London. BluePoint are part of the same company that run 

the contract for Source London. BluePoint say that they will install 
charging points free of cost and even pay boroughs a fee to rent the 
space as well a share of the charging point’s profits. We heard that 
boroughs are struggling to find the capacity – in planning, in housing or 
in consultations – to keep up with the desire of the charging companies.  

TfL might be able to help councils to build even more charging points, 
faster. Companies such as BluePoint are willing to pay the installation 
costs of charging points in some places, but not all. TfL is uniquely 
placed as a pan-London body to map offers of private sector installation. 
If boroughs are struggling to find the capacity to match the desire of 
charging companies, TfL may be able to offer support. In areas where 
private sector support is less forthcoming, TfL could then target its own 
capital investment and act as a top-up to the OLEV funding pot. £2.5 
million of funding is a small pot for TfL– less than 0.1 per cent of TfL’s 
capital budget.19 

Recommendation: TfL should map private sector offers of charging 
point installation, provide support where boroughs have capacity 
issues, and offer direct funding in areas where private sector 
investment is not happening quickly enough.   

There have been some issues with the location of charging points that 
councils do install. Some charging points are large and have been 
installed on pavements. This takes pavement space away from 

pedestrians, especially those with buggies or wheelchairs, and may 

impede journeys, particularly if there are trailing cables. We have seen 

examples of charging points either being installed on the street, or as 
part of streetlamp columns. These should be the norm. 

Recommendation: The Mayor should encourage TfL and boroughs to 
install charging points between parking spaces, and not obstruct 
pavements.   

Private companies are also starting to introduce electric vehicle 
charging infrastructure as the market continues to grow. Shell has 

announced plans for rapid chargers at its petrol stations—nine of which 
are in London.20 Other private partnerships are installing and running 
charging points across the country.21 

There is much more scope for EV infrastructure and delivery to be 
joined-up across London. A glance at Zap-Map shows that there are 
dozens of different networks. Each borough is trying to deal with electric 
vehicles by themselves. Individual borough planning teams decide 

where bays can go and make applications to OLEV, public liaison units 
consult with local residents and local parking teams enforce parking 
restrictions in EV bays. We understand that London Councils and the 
Mayor are considering a delivery partnership that would unify boroughs 
and other partners and provide a more cohesive approach to EV growth 
in London – and that would also deliver cost savings to boroughs. We 
fully support such a partnership. 

P
age 57



 

 
London Assembly Environment Committee I 6  

Environment Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Electric vehicles May 2018 

Recommendation: The Mayor should ensure the establishment and 

financing of a pan-London EV infrastructure delivery partnership as a 
matter of urgency.   

Car clubs
 

Car clubs represent an opportunity to get electric vehicles on the road 
instead of Internal Combustion Engines. Car clubs have an economic 
incentive to have the most modern vehicle fleet possible and regularly 

update the cars they provide. Car club members have already shown an 
appetite for more electric vehicles, and nine out of ten people who had 
not yet used an electric vehicle in their car club expressed an interest.22 
Car clubs are also important in removing vehicles from the road entirely.  
Carplus estimates that each car club vehicle takes the place of ten 
private vehicles.23 

Car clubs also sidestep some issues around parking, but retrofitting car 
club bays with charging points is proving difficult. Car clubs already 

have dedicated bays. These bays are clearly signed, already generally 
accepted by the public and conveniently located. These bays could be 
retrofitted with charging points. Normally TfL and local boroughs pay for 
the installation of charging points. But because car club bays are only 
offered to members of that particular car club, such investment 
classifies as state aid and only €200,000 can be paid to each car club 
over a three-year period. This leaves the installation cost to the car 

clubs, and so investment is stifled. TfL is currently lobbying OLEV for a 

state aid exemption for car clubs but has asked the Mayor to champion 

this cause.    

Recommendation: The Mayor should lobby OLEV for state aid 
exemption for car clubs.  

Electric vehicles are well established in car clubs but there is still a long 
way to go. According to Carplus, 17 per cent of all car club vehicles in 
2016-17 were EVs – 3 per cent purely electric and 14 per cent hybrid.24 
This far exceeds the rate of EVs in the general car population – 0.4 per 

cent.25 The previous Mayor had a specific target for 50 per cent of the 
car club fleet in London to be Ultra Low Emission Vehicles by 2025.26 The 
new Mayor says he will “support the provision of car clubs” but makes 
no promises about EVs in car clubs.27 The new Mayor should not be less 
ambitious than the previous.  

Recommendation: The Mayor should set a new minimum target for 
the percentage of EVs in London’s car clubs, and set out what steps he 

will take to make it a reality.  

TfL has started to actively encourage car club use. The Mayor’s 
Transport Strategy says that “The Mayor, through TfL and the boroughs, 
will support the provision of car clubs for residents, when paired with a 
reduction in the availability of private parking.”28 TfL now has an 
interactive map of car club bays in London which allows you to search 
any location or postcode and then see the nearest car club vehicle, as 
well as the provider with a link to the provider’s website. Car clubs have 

previously asked TfL to include car clubs in its journey planner, which 

P
age 58



 

 
London Assembly Environment Committee I 7  

Environment Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Electric vehicles May 2018 

may also encourage other journey planners, such as Citymapper, to 

encourage car club use as an alternative to private cars or taxis. We 
understand TfL’s reluctance, since car clubs are private companies.  

Car clubs are starting to move towards point-to-point models. A point-
to-point model is one where the car is picked up in one place and 
dropped off in another. Zipcar, for example, has now launched Zipcar 
Flex and intends to make the fleet 100 per cent electric in the next five 
to ten years. BluePoint are doing the same and have a small fleet of 200 

electric cars. Charging infrastructure is currently holding point-to-point 
car clubs back. Zipcar told us: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Future-proofing 
 

Much of the thinking about electric vehicles is within the model of a 
car-centric London, albeit one where the cars are electric. We 
recognise the limitations of this mindset and encourage reading of this 
report alongside the Mayor’s Healthy Streets for London approach as 
well as the London Assembly’s Transport Committee report Future 
Transport. While technological developments can bring major benefits, 
they need to support – rather than impede – the overall goal to reduce 

car ownership and use and increase active travel in London. 

The Mayor’s new Transport Strategy aims for a substantial reduction in 
car use. By 2041 the Mayor aims for 80 per cent of all journeys to be by 
foot, bicycle or public transport.29 This still means that 20 per cent of 
journeys will by car, taxi or other motorised vehicle, or 6.6 million daily 
journeys. Electric vehicles are important to ensure delivery of these 6.6 
million journeys as cleanly as possible.  

Electric vehicles will put pressure on the power network and the 
Mayor needs to plan for this. Last year some media outlets reported 
that the country might need an extra 30 gigawatts of capacity, or the 
equivalent of 10 new nuclear power stations. The National Grid has 
refuted this and said that in its most probable scenario, peak demand 
for electricity would increase by 8 per cent, or 5 GW, because of EVs.30 
This does not mean that nothing needs to be done. The National Grid 

bases its estimate on much more efficient use of electricity, primarily 

“The infrastructure is not there to support [point to point 
EVs], so we will every two to three days have to take 

those vehicles overnight […] charge our vehicles and put 
them back on to the streets” 

 
Gerry Thornton, Senior Marketing Manager, Zipcar 

P
age 59

http://content.tfl.gov.uk/healthy-streets-for-london.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/future-transport-how-london-responding-technological-innovation
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/future-transport-how-london-responding-technological-innovation


 

 
London Assembly Environment Committee I 8  

Environment Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Electric vehicles May 2018 

The Environment Committee examines 
all aspects of the capital’s environment 
by reviewing the Mayor’s strategies on 
air quality, water, waste, climate change 
and energy. 

 

through smart charging. The National Grid estimate also uses the 

current Government’s deadline of 2040 for no more new petrol vehicles 
as an indicator for the pace of EV transition. The pace in London may be 
faster than the rest of the country. 

Recommendation: The Mayor should project the charging demand 
implied by his plans for EV transition, and ensure that London is 
prepared to meet this, not just in the number and distribution of 
charging points, but in the smart technology of those points and the 

underlying electricity infrastructure. 

 

Contact 

For media enquiries about this report, please contact: 

Sam Casserly, External Relations Officer 

Samuel.Casserly@london.gov.uk  

020 7983 5769 

For general queries about the committee, please contact: 

Ian Williamson, Scrutiny Manager 

Ian.Williamson@london.gov.uk  

020 7983 4394 

For further information about the work of the Environment Committee, and to 

see our current investigations, visit our website. 

 

About the Environment Committee
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

.  

 

 

Leonie Cooper AM 
(Deputy Chair, Chair 
(2016-2018 and at 
time of 
investigation) 
Labour 

Caroline Russell AM 
(Chair) 
Green 

Tony Arbour AM 
Conservative 

Jennette Arnold OBE 
AM 
Labour 

Shaun Bailey AM 
Conservative 

David Kurten AM 
UKIP 
 

Joanne McCartney 
AM 
Labour 

P
age 60

mailto:Samuel.Casserly@london.gov.uk
mailto:Ian.Williamson@london.gov.uk
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-committees/environment-committee


 

 
London Assembly Environment Committee I 9  

Environment Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating 
issues that matter to Londoners 

 

Electric vehicles May 2018 

Endnotes 

1 Data provided by Zap-Map - https://www.zap-map.com.  
2 Department for Transport, Vehicle licensing statistics July to September 2017, table 
VEH0131 
3 Transport for London, Funding boost for London’s electric vehicle charging 
infrastructure, 3 August 2017 
4 Transport for London, TfL drives forward £18 million electric vehicle scheme, 26 April 
2017 
5 49 out of 79 rapid chargers as at end of January 2018 – figures provided by GLA Air 
Quality Team 
6  According to the International Council of Clean Transportation white paper on 
Electric Vehicle Capitals of the World, London has one charger for every 4.19 EVs and 
Oslo has one charger for every 3.97 EVs. 
7 Transport for London, Ultra Low Emission Vehicle research   
8 Office for Low Emission Vehicles, Electric Vehicle Homecharge Scheme, November 
2016 
9 Westminster City Council, Electric Vehicles  
10 Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea, Electric Vehicles  
11 Mayor of London, Environment Strategy, page 108  
12 The Green Party Group agrees with a pan-London approach to parking charges for 
electric vehicles. However, the Group disagrees with proposals for the Mayor, 
Transport for London (TfL) or London boroughs to provide free or discounted parking 
spaces for private vehicles, including electric vehicles, even as a transitional measure. 

 The Green Party Group believes that this proposal is incompatible with the Mayor’s 
plans for traffic reduction in his Transport Strategy and it is not the role of public 
bodies to subsidise private car parking. 
13 See Green Party Group opinion above. 

14 Department for Transport, Public Attitudes Towards Electric Vehicles, February 2016 
15 Transport for London, Roads Task Force - Technical Note 14 
16 Next Green Car, What are the UK's most popular EV models? Statistics, September 
2017 and Mitsubishi, Explore: Outlander PHEV 
17 Mayoral press release, Mayor marks key milestone of 100 rapid charging points 
across London, 19 March 2018  
18 Mayoral press release, Mayor’s new electric van fleet helps cut toxic emissions, 29 
December 2017 
19 TfL’s capital budget for 2018-19 is £2.5 billion. 
20 The Guardian, Shell to open electric vehicle charging points at UK petrol stations, 18 
October 2017 
21 Local Gov, Partnership to install electric vehicle charging points announced, 9 May 
2017 
22 Carplus, Carplus annual survey of car clubs, 2016-17 
23 Carplus, Carplus annual survey of car clubs, 2016-17 
24 Carplus, Carplus annual survey of car clubs, 2016-17 
25 Department for Transport, Vehicle licensing statistics April to June 2017, table 
VEH0104 
26 Transport for London, An Ultra Low Emission Vehicle Delivery Plan for London, July 
2015 
27 Mayor of London, Mayor’s Transport Strategy, March 2018   
28 Mayor of London, Mayor’s Transport Strategy, March 2018   
29 Mayor of London, Mayor’s Transport Strategy, March 2018   
30 National Grid, Our Energy Insights: Electric vehicle announcement and what the 
papers say, 8 August 2017 

                                                      

P
age 61

https://www.zap-map.com/
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/vehicle-licensing-statistics-july-to-september-2017
https://tfl.gov.uk/info-for/media/press-releases/2017/august/funding-boost-for-london-s-electric-vehicle-charging-infrastructu
https://tfl.gov.uk/info-for/media/press-releases/2017/august/funding-boost-for-london-s-electric-vehicle-charging-infrastructu
https://tfl.gov.uk/info-for/media/press-releases/2017/april/tfl-drives-forward-18-million-electric-vehicle-scheme
https://www.theicct.org/sites/default/files/publications/Global-EV-Capitals_White-Paper_06032017_vF.pdf
https://www.theicct.org/sites/default/files/publications/Global-EV-Capitals_White-Paper_06032017_vF.pdf
https://tfl.gov.uk/corporate/publications-and-reports/ultra-low-emission-vehicle-research
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/564537/evhs-guidance-for-customers-v-2.1.pdf
https://www.westminster.gov.uk/electric-vehicles
https://www.rbkc.gov.uk/parking-transport-and-streets/visitors/visitor-parking/electric-vehicles
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/london_environment_strategy-_draft_for_public_consultation.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/public-attitudes-towards-electric-vehicles-2016
http://content.tfl.gov.uk/technical-note-14-who-travels-by-car-in-london.pdf
http://www.nextgreencar.com/electric-cars/statistics/
http://www.mitsubishi-cars.co.uk/new-cars/outlander/explore-phev/
https://www.london.gov.uk/press-releases/mayoral/mayor-marks-100th-rapid-charge-point-in-london
https://www.london.gov.uk/press-releases/mayoral/mayor-marks-100th-rapid-charge-point-in-london
https://www.london.gov.uk/press-releases/mayoral/mayors-new-electric-van-fleet-helps-cut-emissions
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2018-19mayorscapitalspendingplan.pdf
https://www.theguardian.com/business/2017/oct/18/shell-to-open-electric-vehicle-charging-points-at-uk-petrol-stations?utm_source=esp&utm_medium=Email&utm_campaign=Morning+briefing&utm_term=248436&subid=22931938&CMP=ema-2793
https://www.localgov.co.uk/Partnership-to-install-electric-vehicle-charging-points-announced/43031
https://www.carplusbikeplus.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/Carplus-Annual-Survey-of-Car-Clubs-2016-17-London.pdf
https://www.carplusbikeplus.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/Carplus-Annual-Survey-of-Car-Clubs-2016-17-London.pdf
https://www.carplusbikeplus.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/Carplus-Annual-Survey-of-Car-Clubs-2016-17-London.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/vehicle-licensing-statistics-april-to-june-2017
http://content.tfl.gov.uk/ulev-delivery-plan.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/mayors-transport-strategy-2018.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/mayors-transport-strategy-2018.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/mayors-transport-strategy-2018.pdf
http://fes.nationalgrid.com/media/1264/ev-myth-buster-v032.pdf
http://fes.nationalgrid.com/media/1264/ev-myth-buster-v032.pdf


T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 62



 

                                                                    

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Draft Food Strategy  
Report to: Environment Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat  
 

Date: 14 June 2018 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 

 
 
1. Summary  
 
1.1 The Committee will scrutinise the Mayor’s draft Food Strategy, putting questions to Greater London 

Authority (GLA) representatives and potentially external guests. The discussion will inform the 

Assembly’s response to the Mayor’s consultation on the draft strategy. 

 
2. Recommendations  
 

2.1 That the Committee notes the report as background to putting questions to invited 

guests on the Mayor’s draft Food Strategy, and notes the subsequent discussion.  

2.2 That the Committee delegates authority to the Chair, in consultation with party Group 

Lead Members, to agree any output arising from the discussion.  

 

 

3. Background   
 
3.1 The Mayor has chosen to publish a draft Food Strategy for consultation. This is not one of the 

strategies the Mayor is required to produce by law, but it touches on several of his statutory 

responsibilities, including health inequalities, London’s economy, London’s environment and the 

Mayor’s planning function. The previous Mayor also published a food strategy. 

 
 
4. Issues for Consideration  
 
4.1 The areas covered by the draft strategy include: 

 Food consumed at home; 

 Food shopping and eating out; 

 Food in public institutions and community settings; 

 Food for maternity, early years, education and health; 

 Food growing, community gardens and urban farming; and 

 Environmental aspects of food.  

 

Page 63

Agenda Item 6



        

4.2 The Committee has invited guests from the relevant industry and public bodies to answer questions 

about the Strategy. These guests include: 

 Anna Taylor OBE, Executive Director, Food Foundation; 

 Mark Ainsbury, Principal Policy Officer, Greater London Authority; 

 Claire Pritchard, Chair of the London Food Board; and 

 A representative from Sustain. 

 

4.3 To scrutinise the various aspects of the draft Strategy, members of other Assembly Committees may 

attend, if not already members of this Committee, and ask questions.  

 

4.4 Discussion at this meeting is also likely to inform the Committee’s further work on the environmental 

impacts of food growing in London’s Green Belt (which is the subject of a specific scoping paper to 

be considered under the work programme item on this agenda). 

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 
5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in the report.  

 

 

6. Financial Implications 
 
6.1 There is no financial implication to the Greater London Authority arising from this report.  

 

 

List of appendices to this report: 
None. 
 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: 

None 

Contact Officer: Ian Williamson, Scrutiny Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 6541 

E-mail: scrutiny@london.gov.uk  

 

Page 64

mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Environment Committee Work 
Programme 

Report to: Environment Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 14 June 2018 
 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 

 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 This report notes and updates the committee’s work programme for the 2018/19 London Assembly 

year.  The programme was originally agreed at the May 2018 meeting, and is updated monthly.       

 
 
2. Recommendations 

 
2.1 That the Committee delegates authority to the Chair, in consultation with party Group 

Lead Members, to agree the scope and terms of reference for its work on the 

environmental impact of food growing in London’s Green Belt. 

 

2.2 That the Committee notes its previously-agreed work programme for the 2018/19 

Assembly year, as set out in paragraphs 4.2 to 4.13. 
 

2.3 That the Committee delegates authority to the Chair, in consultation with Party Group 

Lead Members, to write to the Natural Environment Research Council in support of their 

bid to the Industrial Strategy Challenge Fund, as set out in paragraph 4.14. 

 

 

3. Background  
 

3.1 The work programme for 2018/19 was originally agreed in May 2018, at the first meeting of the 

committee’s year.   

 
3.2 A similar report will be submitted to each subsequent Committee meeting to track the Committee’s 

work and propose any changes, including confirming dates and adding topics as required. 

   

 

4. Issues for Consideration 
 

London Food Strategy 

4.1 This meeting is being used to examine the Mayor’s draft Food Strategy, published in May for 

consultation. A covering report on this topic can be found at Agenda Item 6.   

Page 65

Agenda Item 7



        

 

Work programme for the rest of 2018/19 

4.2 The table below sets out the allocated dates for the Environment Committee in the 2018/19 

Assembly year. The table notes suggested business for the earlier dates.   
 

4.3 The work programme is subject to change in future as the committee develops proposals for its 

work.  Dates may be used for formal committee meetings, informal meetings, site visits or other 

activities for the committee.  The work programme also provides for the committee to respond to 

any matters that arise during the year.    
 
 

Meeting Date Proposed topic 

12 July 2018 
Committee meeting (or other evidence-gathering) 

Green Belt Food Growing 

20 September 2018 
Committee meeting (or other evidence-gathering) 

Embodied Carbon in the Built Environment 

11 October 2018 
Committee meeting (or other evidence-gathering) 

Cold and Damp Homes (and/or November) 

8 November 2018 
Committee meeting (or other evidence-gathering) 

Cold and Damp Homes (and/or October) 

6 December 2018 To be confirmed 

16 January 2019 To be confirmed 

28 February 2019 To be confirmed 

27 March 2019 To be confirmed 

   

  

Green belt food growing 

4.4 Party Group Lead Members were interested in intersecting questions of food and of the outer 

London green environment. Food growing in, and around, London may benefit food sustainability 

and security, and the accessibility of healthy food. It may provide opportunities for Londoners to get 

in touch with where their food comes from. It is also an element of London’s economy and 

employment, and of completing cycles of organic materials.  

 

4.5 The outer London Green Belt is an important part of London’s environment, helping to provide 

resilience against weather events like heavy rain or heatwave, providing access to nature for 

Londoners and habitat for wildlife, and helping to absorb air pollution. Food growing activities in 

this area can enhance these functions. It is being recommended that authority be delegated to the 

Chair of the Committee to agree the scope for investigation into the environmental impacts of food 

growing in the Green Belt. 

 

4.6 The discussion at the current meeting on the draft London Food Strategy may generate material 

that can also be used towards the Green Belt food growing investigation. 
 
 

Page 66



        

Cold, damp and carbon emissions in homes 

4.7 The Committee has previously investigated carbon emissions from London’s domestic sector, and 

Mayoral programmes to reduce it. With progress being made on easy measures like loft and cavity 

wall insulation, there is a need to tackle homes that are hard to insulate, especially where this leaves 

residents in cold and/or damp conditions. The investigation will focus on social housing and examine 

delivery of the Mayor’s Fuel Poverty Action Plan. The issues have greatest public resonance in 

winter, so it has been suggested to gather evidence in autumn/early winter 2018 and to publish a 

report later in the winter. 
 

4.8 Putting up and altering buildings generates considerable carbon emissions, so there can be a tension 

between the carbon savings of a more efficient building fabric and the carbon costs of refurbishment 

or rebuilding works. Informal discussions with the Planning Committee indicate that, if the 

Environment Committee were to investigate these ‘embodied carbon’ questions before  

October 2018, it could inform the Examination in Public of the London Plan. 

   

 Particulate pollution 

4.9 Air pollution from motor exhaust has received considerable attention over recent years, but some 

other sources have received less. With cleaner motors taking over the roads, other sources are 

emerging as having greater relative significance. These sources include secondary engines on 

vehicles, such as those powering refrigeration units, and solid fuel burning such as in wood fires and 

stoves, pizza ovens and barbecues. The Mayor is aiming for stringent health-based clean air targets, 

as recommended by this Committee, and so all sources of emissions need to be borne down on.  

 

4.10 There is also ongoing work to assess particulate pollution on the underground network. 

 

4.11 Whether within the cold homes investigation or the air pollution, Lead Members have expressed an 

interest in investigating domestic boilers, including replacing older boilers with more efficient ones, 

replacing boilers altogether with systems such as heat pumps, and whether householders can use 

their heating more efficiently.  

 

 Other work 

4.12 Party Group Lead Members kept in mind other potential work of the Committee, including holding 

the Mayor to account for developing and delivering policies such as the T-charge and Ultra Low 

Emission Zone, a Mayoral energy supplier, the Solar Action Plan, the Environment Strategy and 

associated strategies, and action on Tube noise. 

 

4.13 The Committee is also likely to respond to consultations and contribute to wider debates such as on 

London airports and the National Air Quality Strategy. Members anticipate holding a meeting on 

aviation issues during the year. 

 

NERC 

4.14 The Committee has been asked to support a bid by the Natural Environment Research Council to the 

Industrial Strategy Challenge Fund for money to make grants to support innovation towards ‘zero 

plastic waste. As this aligns with the Committee’s recent work on plastic bottles and on waste more 

generally, Members may wish to agree to give such support. 

 

Page 67



        

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in the report. 

 
 
6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 
 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:  

None.  

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer: Ian Williamson, Scrutiny Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 6541 

E-mail: scrutiny@london.gov.uk    

 

 

Page 68

mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk

	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interests
	3 Minutes
	Transcript  Environment Committee OO 23-05-18

	4 Summary List of Actions
	5 Action Taken under Delegated Authority
	Electric Vs in London

	6 Draft Food Strategy
	7 Environment Committee Work Programme



